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STATE OF MAINE.

In House oF anliszmums,
March 4, 1874.

On motion of Mr. CARVILL,

ORDERED, That 1,000 copies of the Report of the Joint Special Committee on the
Affairs of the State Prison, be printed, and the State Librarian be directed, after
reserving the usual number of copies for the departments, to distribute the balance to
the members of the Legislature of 1874.

S. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.



STATE OF MAINE.

HousE oF REPRESENTATIVES,
January 22, 1874. }

WuaEereAs, By reference to the Message of the Governor and the Annual Messages of
the Governor for several successive years last past, the impression has been given to the
Legislature and to the people of this State that the State Prison at Thomaston has been
and still is a source of revenue to the State, more than paying the current expenses
thereof ;

And WHEREAS, it nowhere appears from the reports of the State Treasurer for a
number of years past that any amounts of money have been paid into the Treasury as
the profits aceruing from the management of said Institution ;

And WHEREAS, in the Reports of the Inspectors there are no accounts giving in detail
the items and amounts of annual additions to the stock and working capital of said
prison, or giving particular items or value of stock on hand ;

And WHEREAS, there is no official report of the amount of salaries or compensation to
the several officers and employees connected with said prison ;

And WHEREAS, the salaries or amount of compensation paid to several of said officers
is not fixed by law, but left to the discretion of the Inspectors of said prison, and no
report or official document shows the sum or sums allowed by said Inspectors as salary
or compensation to said officers ; )

And WHEREAS, it appears by the Message of the Governor that a serious loss to the
property of the State occurred by reason of a fire some time after an account of stock
and property at said prison had been last taken ;

And WHEREAS, charges have been made and published in some of the leading news-
papers of the State, showing that the State Prison is by no means a source of revenue to
the State or self-sustaining, and that no account or report of the amount of salaries or
compensation paid to officers or employees of said prison has appeared ;

And WHEREAS, it appears by the acts and resolves of the last past ten years that large
appropriations have been made from the Treasury in favor of said prison, and no detailed
acoount of the expenditure of said moneys has been communicated to the legislature ;
therefore

Ordered, That , be a Committee of this House, whose duty it shall be to
investigate fully all the affairs of said prison connected with the management thereof
since the first day of January, 1864, to ascertain the number and names of all persons
for each year since that date connected with the management of said Institution or in
any way employed and paid as officers or employees thereof ; also in what capacity em-
ployed, and the amount of compensation or salary paid annually to each of them.
Whether any officers or persons have been employed without authority of law ; the
amount annually paid into the State Treasury from said prison; the amounts annu-
ally appropriated and paid in favor of said prison during said last ten years, together
with the manner in which appropriations have been expended, and for what purposes;
also what improvements have been made. The time and cause or origin of said fire,




4 MAINE STATE PRISON.

and circumstances connected therewith ; whether it ocecurred before or after an account
of the stock and property had been last taken by the Inspectors; the amount of all
property and stock belonging to the State at said prison, and the uses made thereof, as
near as may be ascertained, for each of the last ten years since January 1st, 1864, and
also the amount of such property and stock and the uses thereof, now on hand, giving
in full and detail the several items, together with the present cash value thereof ; also
to inquire into the sanitary condition of said prison, and the treatment of the inmates
thereof. And that said Committee have authority to send for persons and all books and
papers in their judgment deemed necessary, and be directed and instructed to report on
the aforesaid matters as soon as may be.

AMENDMENT “A.”

Amend by providing for the appointment in the usual method, of a committee of three
on the part of the House, and two on the part of the Senate.
Read and passed as amended per sheet *“A.”

Sent up for concurrence.
S. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.

IN HoUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
January 23, 1874.

The Committee provided for in the foregoing orders on the part of the House, are
Messrs, Talbot of East Machias, Knowlton of Skowhegan and Morrow of Bangor.

S, J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.

In SeNATE, January 26, 1874.
Read, House amendment rejected, amended per sheets ¢ B” and *C” and passed.
Sent down for concurrence, :
SAMUEL W. LANE, Secretary.

—

AMENDMENT “B.”

Amend by striking out all after the word ¢“ordered” and insert the following:

That the Committee on State Prison be instructed to investigate all the affairs of
said prison connected with the management thereof since the first day of January, 1864,
to ascertain the number and names of all persons for each year since that date, con-
nected with the management of said institution, or in any way employed and paid as
officers and employees thereof. Also in what capacity employed, and the amount of
compensation or salary paid annually to each of them. Whether any officers or persons
have been employed without authority of law; the amount annually paid inte the
treasury from said prison; the amount annually appropriated and paid in favor of said
prison during said last ten years, together with the manner in which appropriations have
been expended, and for what puopose. Also what improvements have been made; the
time and cause, or origin of the late fire, and circumstances connected therewith.
Whether it occurred before or after the account of stock and property had heen lasi
taken by the inspectors; the amount of all property and stock belonging to the State at
said prison, and the use made thereof, as near as may be ascertained, for each of the
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last ten years since January 1, 1864. And also the amount of all such property and
stock, and the uses thereof, now on hand, giving in full and detail the several items,
together with the present cash value thereof. Also to inquire into the sanitary condi-
tion of said prison and the treatment of the inmates thereof. And the said committee
have authority to send for persons and all books and papers in their judgment deemed
necessary.

And said comvinittee is suthorized to appoint a sub-committee, if deemed expedient,
and report of the result is to be made to this Legislature as soon as may be.

AMENDMENT ¢ 0C.”
That amendment ¢ B” be amended by inserting in the last clause of said amendment,
after the word ¢¢ expedient,” the following:

And to employ such person or persons as assistants in said investigation as to said
Committee may seem necessary and proper.

IN HousE REPRESENTATIVES,
January 27, 1874.

Senate amendments ¢“B” and ¢ C” rejected, and the House insisted on its former
vote.
S. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk,

In SENATE, January 28, 1874.

The Senate receded and concurred and joined Messrs. Shaw of Penobscot, Russell of
Androscoggin as said Committee on the part of the Senate.

SAMUEL W. LANE, Secretary.

STATE OF MAINE.

January 23, 1874.
Ordered, That one on the part of the Senate and one on the part of the House be

added to the Joint Select Committee on State Prison, making said Committee to consist
of five instead of three.

Read dnd passed. Sent up for concurrence.

IN HoUusSE oF REPRESENTATIVES, ;

8. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.
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STATE OF MAINE.

IN House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
January 29, 1874. }

Ordered, That the Joint Select Committee on investigation of the affairs of the
State Prison be directed to proceed forthwith in the prosecution of their duties, and
make report as early as may be, but not later than the twenty-first day of February
next; also that said Committee be authorized to employ a stenographer and a sufficient
force of accountants and experts to enable them to complete their examination, and
make report within the above prescribed time.

Read and passed. Sent up for concurrence.
8. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.

Ix SENATE, January 29, 1874.
- Read and concurred.

SAMUEL W, LANE, Secretary.

STATE OF MAINE.

In House 'oxv- REPRESENTATIVES,
February 12, 1874. }

Ordered, That such persons as are required to appear before the Joint Special Commit-
tee to investigate the affairs of the State Prison, be paid the same for travel and at-
tendance as they would be entitled to for travel and attendance at the Supreme Judicial
Court, and that each person so attending ocertify the number of miles travel and the
number of days actual attendance, and the bill of eosts for such travel and attendance
shall be examined and allowed by the Governor and Council and paid from any funds
not otherwise appropriated.

Read and passed. Sent up for concurrence,

. : 8. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.

*In SENATE, February 13, 1874.
Read and concurred.

SAMUEL W. LANE, Secretary.



REPORT.

The Joint Special Committee on Investigation of the State
Prison, appointed under an order of the Legislature passed Feb-
ruary 28, 1874, ask leave to submit the following report :

On the 30th day of January said Committee met for the purpose
of organization, all the members being present, and made choice
of Mr. Shaw of Penobscot as chairman, and Mr. Talbot of East
Machias ag Secretary.

R. S. Prescott of Bangor, Ara Cushman of Auburn, and Hiram
Wyman of New Sharon, were selected as experts under the order
of the Legislature of January 29th, to take an inventory and ap~
praisal of all the property and stock belonging to the State at said-
prison. » On receiving notice of the acceptance of their offices by
said appraisers, the Committee voted to employ Mr. Elder of-
Bangor, and Wormell of Dexter, as clerks for said appraisers;.
and on the sixth day of February said appraisers and clerks, to-
gether with the Committee, repaired to the State Prison at Thom-
aston to enter upon the discharge of their duties. The Committee -
remained at Thomaston until the tenth of February, and during-
their visit made a thorough examination of the Prison in allits
departments; its accommodations for the comfort and care of the
prisoners, their mode of living, the character and order of their -
cells, beth for confinement and for punishment, the manner in.
which they are employed in labor in the different departments,
and the present sanitary condition of the inmates; saw every
prisoner, and among the number but two who were unable to do
some labor on account of sickness, and these seemed to be well
cared for. The condition of the cells and apartments of the prison
was neat and tidy and well adapted to secure the comfort and.
safety of the inmates. Your Committee also made a personal ex- -
amination of all the property, both real and personal, belonging to
the State at said institution, and left the appraisers at.work in
ﬁaking account of the same.
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At a meeting of the Committee held at the office of the Warden
within the Prison, on the ninth day of February, on the sugges-
tion by the Warden that the books of the State Prison required by
the Committee were not so posted and closed up as would be
necessary for the required information, it was voted that all the
accounts be made up to the 15th imst., and the books completed
up to that date, and that the sessions of the Committee for inves-
tigation, commence at the State House on Tuesday, the 17th of
February.

The chairman was authorized to employ an accountant to ex-
amine the accounts of the Warden as annually settled before the
Governor and Council. Mr. Cushman being sick and unable to
attend to his duties, Mr. O. B. Chadbourne of Saco, and William
F. Garcelon of Lewiston were employed as appraisers. At the
request of Warden Rice the examination of witnesses was further
postponed until Tuesday, the 24th. George K. Hatch of Pem-
broke was employed as accountant, and Mr. Reuel Smith of Ban-
gor was employed as stenographer. The examination of witnesses
commeneed before the Committee in the Representatives’ Hall.
The testimony of witnesses examined will be found in the report
of the stenographer, hereafter to be annexed to, and made & part
of this Report.

After examination of several witnesses in relation to charges or
reports of ill-treatment of prisoners, and excess of punishment in
cases of discipline, (as will appear from the testimony) and also
in relation to the cause or origin of the fire of Dtcember 4, 1873,
and the means employed to extinguish said fire and save the prop-
erty of the State, the Committee unanimously agreed, *‘ that so
far as any irregularities exist in the treatment of prisoners or their
mode of punishment, or in the management at the time of the fire,
they sre not of such a nature as to wmplicale the Warden, or to
cast any suspicion upon him as to want of efficiency, neglect of
official duty, or unkind or harsh treatment, but that the Tnspectors
have for several years failed to conform fully to the requirements
of the law, in regard to furnishing to the officers of the prison,
rules and regulations for their government. The Committee,
therefore, decide that no further examination, so far as the Warden
1s concerned, in relation to the treatment of prisoners, be had ; and
that the further examination of witnesses be in relation to the
financial eoncerns of the Prisorn.”
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Having been required by the orders designating the duties of
the Committee, ‘‘ to ascertain the number and names of all persons
‘‘ for each year since January, 1864, connected with the manage-
““ment of said institution, or in any way employed and paid as
“ officers or employees thereof; also in what capacity employed
‘“and the amount of compensation or salary paid annually to each
‘“of them,’”’ the Committee would refer to the tabular statement
contained in the communication from the Governor, dated Feb-
ruary 10, 1874, to the Legislature, in response to a joint order,
which communication is Printed Document of the Senate, No. 35,
and which, so far as information in relation to the State Prison is
concerned, is to be appended to, and made part of, this report.
The Committee would further say, that in addition to the informa-
tion above, it appears in testimony that Henry C. Marden and
Cyrus Maxcy have been employed in said institution for the num-
ber of years and at the salaries or compensation mentioned in their
testimony.

As to ““ whether any officers or persons have been employed
without authority of law,”” section 4, chapter 140 of the Revised
Statutes, provides ‘‘ that the supervision of the State Prison shall
‘“‘be vested in the Governor and Council, but its government in
““two (now three) Inspectors, one Warden, one Deputy Warden,
““one person to perform the duties of clerk and commissary, and
‘“such number of overseers, not exceeding ten, as the Inspectors
““ determine to be necessary.”” The office of guards and the com-
pensation to be allowed the same, are mentioned in the same chap-
ter of the Statutes, but your Committee are not aware of any law
directly authorizing the employment of guards, however necessary
they may seem to be for the carrying on of the prison. By refer-
ence to the tabular statement above referred to, and testimony of
Marden and Maxcy, it will be seen what officers other than those
authorized by law, have been employed. The testimony of the
Warden and Inspectors tends to show that no more than were
necessary have been employed.

The inspectors are required by law to establish rules and regu-
lations consistent with the laws of the State, as they deem neces-
sary and expedient for the direction of the officers, agents and
servants of the prison, in the discharge of their duties, or for their
compensation, not established by law, and may, with the approval of
the Governor and Council, fix anew or regulate from time to time
the compensation of the various officers of the prison when they



10 MAINE STATE PRISON.

deem it for the interests of the State; shall establish rules for the
government, instruction and discipline of the convicts, and for their
clothing and subsistence, for the custody, preservation and man-
agement of the public property ; all such rules and regulations are
to be laid before the Governor and Council, and are subject to be
approved, annulled, modified or added to by the Governor and
Council, '

From the testimony before your Committee, it appears that no
such rules and regulations in relation to the compensation of sub-
ordinate officers have been made since 1865. By the laws of the
State, which were in force up to 1865, the compensation of the
subordinate officers hereinafter named was established, and not to
exceed the following rates by the year, viz: the

Deputy Warden,......covvviinininnneeenennns $450 00
Overseer of wheelwright department,........... 500 00
Clerk and Commissary, including his services as .
overseer and teacher of "the school,. ... ....500 00
Overseer of the shoe department,............... 500 00
Overseer of the coopering department,.. ........ 300 00
Overseer of the blacksmith department,......... 500 00
Each of the guards,.................. ........ 350 00

and if boarded by the Warden, not more than at the rate of $2.50
per week to be deducted from their salaries.

By reference to the tabular statements before referred to, and to
the testimony in relation to Marden and Maxcy, it will be seen
what compensation has been paid. The law of 1865 authorizes
the inspectors to fix the compensation of the various officers of
the prison. No regulations to fix anew the compensation appear
to have been made since 1865. By reference to the above tabular
statements it will be seen that the salary of the warden has been
increased from $1,200 per annum in 1864 to $4,000 in 1872 and
1873 in addition to which he is allowed the use, without charge,
of the keeper’s house and buildings of the State, appurtenant to
the prison and yard, together with fuel for his use, which fuel the
testimony shows the Warden has hitherto provided at his own
expense,

The principle of leaving the salary of the Warden thus undeter-
mined is an exceptional one, and highly objectionable, because it
is against the policy of our government and dangerous in its ten-
dencies, when left in the first instance to the determination of
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those whose interests may become identified, and in practice ex-
emplifying a well known trait of human nature which can always
seem to find a sufficiently good reason for an increase of compen-
sation for services, while it fails to see the necessity of any curtail-
ment, or can even be content with a permanent sufficiency. But it
is said this is subject to the decision of the Executive. Here is’
one of the greatest objections. It is exceedingly embarrassing to
the appointing power. The Warden is appointed by the Governor
with advice of Council, and to hold his office during the pleasure
of the Executive, but not more than four years under one appoint-
ment. When an appointment is to be made, the Executive, having
due regard to the interests of the State, is supposed to appoint the
man best qualified for the place, and exercising that power would
hardly be convinced that in each successive appointment he had
not selected a man whose services would not be entitled to as much
compensation as those of his predecessor. No amount has been
paid into the State treasury from said prison.

The amounts annually appropriated and paid in favor of said
prison during said last ten years are as follows, not including
salaries of officers paid from the treasury :

Year. Appropriations.
1864, .. vttt et e $19,028 44
1865, .o oi i et 5,275 00
1866, ...t e 3,500 00
1867, et it it i i e 25,000 00
1868, ...t e 25,000 00
1869, . o e e 30,000 00
1870, .ottt 32,400 00
R 5 10,000 00
1872, e e i 15,000 00
1808, ittt et i e 8,000 00

Total,..........cvvnnn $173,203 44

The following is a schedule of the buildings and other property
connected with the prison, which have been built, repaired, or
purchased during the past ten years, viz: The central portion
and west wing of the prison built, and the old wing thoroughly
repaired ; the warden’s house repaired, wood shed built, and
grounds graded; a large blacksmith shop built; a building for
chapel, shoe shop, and store room built; a three story building for
a carpenters’ and trimmers’ shop and repository built; a four story
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building used for a harness shop, wash house and store rooms built;
the carriage shop enlarged to twice its for former capacity; a wood
ghed built; a stable built; a building for a shed and slaughter-
house erected ; a large piggery built; a building purchased and
reconstructed into a carriage repository and four tenements for
‘officers of the prison; two double tenement houses purchased and
repaired, and wood houses for the samie built; two houses pur-
chased and repaired; a large carriage repository out side the
prison walls purchased ; a lot of land adjacent the prison grounds
purchased ; a steam fire engine purchased, and engine house re-
paired ; six reservoirs constructed, and five hundred and one feet
of iron fence, with granite base, built; the wall on the west side
of the prison yard constructed, thereby enlarging the yard, and
three guard houses built ; and line fences built around the land
connected with the prison,; and various other improvements made.

As to the fire of December 4th, 1874: Your Committee have
been unable to procure any testimony as to the cause or origin of
said fire sufficient to form an opinion whether it was accidental or
the work of an incendiary. The testimony shows that it occurred
during the night of December 4, 1878, while two of the Inspectors
were at the prison, and in the daytime attending to their official
duty in taking account of the stock; and the testimony shows
what means were employed to extinguish the fire and save prop-
erty. It also appears that the building burned, and was destroyed
with its contents before an account of the stock in it was taken by
the Inspectors; and that the means used by them to obtain as
near as possible an estimate of the property ir said building, appear
in said testimony.

The Committee find the appraisal made by the Inspectors to
amount in the whole to the sum of $82,422.97; and that recently
made by the appraisers to amount to the sum of $55,788.27, to
which if there is added the sum of $16,778.28, the amount esti-
mated by the Inspectors to have been lost by the fire, the whole
amount will be $72,566.55, showing a difference of $9,856.72.
The Committee regard this difference no more than might be reason=
ably be expected, having regard to the time and manner in which
the appraisals were made, and the amount and kind of pl;operty
appraised.

The Committee having been required to report at a day as early
ag possible, have laboted assidwously in forwarding the work ; yet
such is the manner in which the many accounts of the prison have
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been kept, and those of its different departments, that they have
not had time fully to examine and reduce to a system these several
accounts for the last ten years. Mr. Hatch, the accountant, who
has been engaged in this examination, reports to us that the ac-
counts are very complicated, that no cash book has been kept, but
that he has found the accounts correct and vouchers for the same.
Enough has been developed to satisfy your Committee that it is
their duty to recommend a more systematic method of keeping the
accounts of the prison and its different departments, of the amounts
paid, and for what purposes, of the articles manufactured and the
disposition of the same, and of all amounts received ; and that the
Inspectors, in the establishment of rules and regulations for the
prison, incorporate into them such provisions as shall carry out
these recommendations, by requiring the overseers of the different
departments to make frequent returns to the clerk of the business
under their charge.

Your Committee would also earnestly recommend that the sala-
ries of the Warden and other officers of the State Prison be fixed
and established by law. ,

All which is respectfully submitted.

CHARLES SHAW, Chairman.
EDMUND RUSSELL,

J. C. TALBOT,

HIRAM KNOWLTON,
JAMES MORROW.

In House or REPRESENTATIVES,
March 3, 1874.
~ Read and accepted and ordered to be printed.
Sent up for concurrence,
S. J. CHADBOURNE, Clerk.

In Seware, March 8, 1874,
Read, accepted, and ordered to be printed in concurrence.

SAMUEL W. LANE, Secretary.



STATE OF MAINE.

Exrcurive DEPARTMENT, 2
Augusta, February 10, 1874.

To the Senate and House of Representatives :

In response to a joint order calling upon the Executive ‘“to give the name of each
officer and employee of the State Prison and State Reform School, and the compensation
paid to each for the year 1873, and for each year for the past twenty years,” I have the
honor to transmit the accompanying tabular statements, covering so much of the infor-
mation called for as can be ascertained from documents on file. So far as the State
Prison is concerned, this information is complete; but the records of the Reform School
prior to 1866, were destroyed in the office of the then chairman of the Board of Trus-
tees in the great fire in Portland, in that year.

NELSON DINGLEY, Jr.
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-

OrricERs’ SavrAriES As Paip rroM PrisoN TREASURY.

1854.

J. Trufry, deputy warden....... Gt test ateeeneneienseasseet sann naes eene| $214 22
A. Perkins, clerkie .. coie viiisinenees canonnes eeeeseneacenssancnanasas 413 08
E. Carleton, overzeer 8106 shop.... covtveienioniirinretvrennniansenns 500 00
W. Fitzgerald, overseer carriage shop.. ... viieiiiiivercrrnonrecnnsansn 481 19
‘W. J. Bunker, overseer blacksmith 8hop.e..civeeiieeiaeaeiennrnneiene. 500 00
Thos. O'Brion, overseer....... ... e eies cnsteseanensaias seerensecennrens 160 00
C. B, Wetherby, OVerSeer...cs ~oov os 2o 8880 sese nsss sase menentns nous asnn .125 00
J. H. C. Baker, guardanddeputy S 291 00
8. Waldo, Guard .. 16 50
R. Monk, guard ......... 373 33
P.G. Hanly, % eevevienreernrennnceosesniesaeenneennsnsenesenss| 300 00
A. Mero, ¢ . et siaraeneaaee s : 300 00
J. Butler, ¢ 100 00
J. C Vose, ¢ 108 88
E. P. Haskell, ¢¢ 94 26
‘W. H. Fales, ¢¢ 179 70
E. Chase, ¢ 8 50
E. M. Snow, cc 191 57
J. F. Latham, ¢ 177 60
J. Kennedy, €, 38 07
Daniel Rose, physwmn 33 33
J. W, Robinson, physxcmn.. . 66 67
0. J. Fernald, chaplmn [ 300 00
W. Bennett, boardot‘oﬂioers. ....... Ceeieeesa et cacseren ettt aenranas 185 86
Haskell, &o.. .................. S esansanensns 4 59
Carr&O’Brien.............................................. .ees 28 00
Butler & Haskell.ous voer eeeneeouisoee vt vorenanscosesassnsascees 66 29

$5,236 64

1855—December 31.

J. H. C. Baker, deputy warden.... ..oeceueuuun s $173 12
J. Trufry, deputy warden ......cecveee.uns 63 01
8. Bradshaw, deputy warden and gua.rd.... 341 50
A, Porking, Clerk ..o voutciueaene siueoetnnrnevereanencerevene savenne 635 70
E. Carleton, overseer Shoe Shops....uee coeecenevene sioesecevecesanns 541 67
W. Fitzgerald, overseer carringe BHOD...cuv vere cure vaer cnrscans sonearss 540 30
W.J Bunker, overseer blacksmith shop . . . 550 82
R. Monk, overseer. e eeranen s 283 74
T. W. Hix, second overseer 59 17
Thos. O’Brien, overseer. 350 00
A. Mero, guard.. ....... 325 00
J. F. Latham, ¢ 214 58
E. M. Snow, et tins saanasnn nanaasasaaes mnasansn rans 308 98
E. Morse, ek e site tnne tnusacns s nene s . 142 17
E. Thorndike, & .iiiviieveeeveeencencanscnnonannns 55 03
J. C. Vose, it tiieeseresentanetecnant an 225 16
A.J Miller, e 75 00
J. Butler, it ties ettt etetatetenasatastaee saasbrnsrnsaran 136 64
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

W. Tobey, BUATA . eee ciineet i neiierenacacneoeseesanesannsanes
J.C. Ingraham, ¢ ..icitueientariiarcsoccetntsosceuonsonn creseanes
W. H. Fales, S8 e ecans s Ceesenen % searsans seee anerusse nnns Ay

J. W, Robmson physwmn. ................... Weet vecs cevevoseasnsnnns
AW, Mﬂyhew, guard....... tee seeneans anearas

‘W. Bennett, board of officers..
T. W. Hix, board of officers. .
Chaplains.............
Baker & Vose, guards.... .....
Miller & Morse, ¢ .iveeennnon.
Hanly & Buoklin, *  ,.e) sseevseecreesnsecevevssracssnsososcsnrsesnsns

1856—December 31.

J. Trufry, deputy warden......... beeeanen veenenns teerssen caremnesonns
8. Bradshaw, deputy warden .o .coee coneveeeveienens eannannsn
A. Perking, clerk....coveneiivnrennns sennonnnn

W. Benuett, Jr., olerk..

E. Carleton, overseer shoe shop. teveesvans
w. Fltzo‘emld overseer carriage shop..
w.J. Bunker, overseer blacksmith shop. .

W. Beckett, 6 eveseeeesnsecncssensasassnseasasanns srasansneras
L. Bedman, N
€. B. Wetherby, © civeuenie . veerenunneccessensacsasecscsncasssanns
T. W, Hix, 2d, % tiievietorerneraoeeessasonessessusssaseasenssane
Thos. O'Brion, ¢ cviuvevevensssscnrossessascas soseanastsasnssene

W. Bennett, board of officers,.....
T. W. Hix, board of officers.......
A. Mero, guard..eeoeveveen
J. Butler, L

E. Willis, it iare sttt sete s sastsaiesaeen tentanin nune onee
D. G. Vose, €6 ieseiccecsecsisanrssssncan
D. M Doran, L

@G. Harrington, ¢ cicoeeionaniciinienane,

E. Emerson, <
H. H. Watts, ¢
M. Bucklin, ¢
T. J. Rider, “«
J. C. Vose, LY
B. P. Morse s

W. Tobey, L TN
J. 0. Ingraham, €6 ... .ivieeencerenecsosconcessaceassssnsssasscane
W. H. Fales, 8 it tieeenae seas eareasnssacn atessesaasnacnns s
Tarbox, LN teeoassasse e

Dunbar, s

Daniel Rose, physwmn ....... teeeeens
J. W, Robinson, physiciah.....cee vavr coneaes
H. C. Levensaler, physxemn
Fales and Toby, GHATAS +. cevs eere venn soesaresares vnns sooences conesnes

BAPIAING, . s aeee sete it sttt careanis tareotes sena tans cetraaes toeenans

1857—December 31.

J. @, Trufry, deputy Warden...eee coee eeseseeecsasonee sosssnaysoen gons
8. Bradshaw, deputy warden. - voee ceeeceosvonecacs ses

W. Bennett, Jr., clerk...coveveee ciae caneannonne
A, Perkins, clerk.... c.vvvuevenecaneveosnsenns
E. Carleton, overseer shoe SHOPueas cueeiearannnns
w. Fltzgerald overseer carriage shop.....
W. J. Bunker, overseer blacksmith shop....cevevver ceiininnnininiienans
T, W. Hix, 20 OVOISE0Iecr coee cose vase sass cvoeross sonssone sona son
W. H. Fales ¢ heens sate seae enes anansaes seee suas sees sansanas

75 00
24 65
237 94
108 33
36 59
71 00
304 87
193 41
374
65 38
21 86

$6,064 34

$332 02
1056 48
106 38
390 69
549 66
549 66
259 66
351 73
236 30

75 00
84 38
250 00
106 11

$5,962 08

$45 33
435 73
56 18
443 84
500 00
141 44
118 65
431 82
375 73




INVESTIGATION OF AFFAIRS. 17

Orrrcers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

0. Blanchard, overseer ......... $381 50
Adams and Allen <¢ 717 12
Hannah Jacobs, ¢ 231 00
S. Redman, ¢ 145 38
W. Beckett, [ 50 55
Thos. O’Brion, < ves 298 96
A. Mero, guard. . et e es it i i tate s s atee cans ettt aeraaens 350 00
G. Ilu‘mgton, glmrd cirevensaies . 39 31 i
E. Willis, . 39 31 L
H. H. Watts, ¢ 39 31
E. Emerson, - 39 31
M. Bueklin, L 91 00
J. Butler, [ 6 24
A. Mclntire, ¢ 315 94
G. H. Ingraham, ¢ 323 06
E. P. Morse, ¢ 310 69
T. J. Rider, i 15 79
0. Jameson, [ 237 57
J. C. Ingraham, ¢ 262 50
J. E. Stimpson, ¢ 241 41
H. Hall, waiter. . cee e eees e 233 4
W, Bennett bonrd of oﬁicers N [ 14 65
T. W Hix, *¢ e 5 72
Servant ..... Ce b teee seet e s ases smre seneases veas s 33 69
H. C. Levensaler,phys:cmn et e erreseer it s aeee seiacaas 11 23
C. F. Chage, physiCian.e v vuve veus vein cine taen seunseiecioncrne vone vees 88 77
Chaplains ..oove ivvrvenevnne s Cevasaens e et aeeb e e s e 200 00
Paid officers April Ist...s cuue cieeans i i i it e e e e 46 13
$7,347 33
Less charged old account with paid H. Jacobs. ....coeenvnn..o. 17 57
Less charged T. W. Hix with labor haying ... cvvvvvveeveeen.... 10 38
—_— 27 95
Balanee.. .. cevn et tierenie it aie eisainenieeeans] $7,319 38

1858.

S. Bradshaw, deputy Warden.. ..oe evue connviee vaue teas consvnananes onns $300 00
A. Perkins,clerk . ov iiin i it it trie e tiee e 500 00
E. Carleton, overseer shoe shop. 500 00
F. W. Johnson, overseer.... 431 50
T. W. Hix, 2d ¢ 500 00
W, H. Fales, ce 450 00
Allen and O’Brien, *¢ 1,068 50
Thos. O'Brien, ¢ 300 00
Hanpah Jacobs, ¢« 92 00
J. W. Faller, € 50 00
Thos Corbett, € ee e aeee eetere teee ebe e see e e 43 15
A, Mero, guard. ......ceiiinai.. et reae sees tra e aere s aaes s e 350 00
A. Meclntire, guard 350 00
0. Jaweson, ¢ 350 00
G. H Ingraham, ¢ 368 50
J. C. Ingraham, ¢¢ 350 00
J. E. Stimpson, ¢ 350 00
T. J. Rider, ¢ 49 47
E. P Morse, ¢¢ 350 00
H. Hall, € 269 00
D. G Vose, €« 262 50
E. A. Willis, € 14 40
W. J. Buaker, servwemchapel...... N 65 00
P. R. Baker, physuem.u 50 00
C. T. Chase, physician....... 50 00
Chaplains....... ... ..l P TN ceteetetaretteesceetiateaans 197 50

$7,861 52
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Orricers’ Savnaries, (Continued.)

1859—November 30.

S. Bradshaw, deputy warden..

T. W. Hix, 2d, deputy warden and overseer . .

A. Perklns clerk. . e eest oses eese st oeet aets sas seat sane ssan tuan
E. Carleton overseershoeshop Gt sete et cesteate aese asan ones rereaaee
Allen and O’Brlen, OVEISEOr.. . cuvevausvenn vens teseeteneret0esennenanan
S. L. Bryant, Ce et aeeeeaneteet aeetsret snreneatanannes
W. H. Fales, A

Thos. O'Brien, ¢ ceesee ians sannn

J. W. Fuller, L AN

Ww. Fltzgemld overseer carriage shop..

W. J. Bunker, overseer blacksmith shop vee

A. Mero, 0 0
A. Mclntire, C ereraeees Cesesesaneactatet veetatesanas enn
0. Jameson, B eesatveasas cssssnce marh sacn nas
J. C. Ingraham, ¢ .et il iiiiniieiit ittt e ceen e e
H. Hall, ¢

J. E. “timson, ¢

D. G. Vose, “

E. P. Mosse, i .
G. I, Ingraham, € oL uisoiie crinvrensonncaseocneansensseasoense
E. A. Willig, e citreees e N .
T. J. Rider, e
L. Crawford, ¢« e
P. R. Baker, physxclan tetseiesseenserrers [ P
Chaplams............................................ ...... freenenae

T. W. Hix, 2d, deputy warden .... ...
A. Perkmq clerk .
W. Fitzgerald, overseer carnage shop ca.

Ww.J. Bunker, overseer blacksmith shop........... P
E. Carleton, overseer 8108 Shop..es ceve esetvant caeeaeesarennansanenanas
8. L. Bryant, overseer
H. Morton, ¢
Thos. O’Brien, ¢

J. E. Stimson, ¢ .. . freesenans P
Adnper Fales €. . N

L. Therndike, B et st sans onos sinnmausnnns snas nan [P
G. H. Ingrabam, ... iiiiiinvinevernonnens

T. P. Howard, ¢ ........

H. A. Willis, inside laborer....... .... ...

W. P. Bunker, guard........ cou.uuen

P. R. Baker, physician,......
Chaplaing. .. oeee cien e nneenianennnanns

1861—November 30.

T. W. Hix, 2d, deputy warden.... cce. ceaseone cune sesesnsestessenrnian
B. B Thomas, deputy warden......... free tsec satecneevectante eanasen
A, Perking, Clerk...e o v vriesaersens sens ance soneanres caceorseaacnsans

D. Palmer, overseer shoe shop..... ..

W. Fitzgerald, overseer carnage shop .
H. Morton, Seeesbentecesaene sesnene vose nens
H. C. Pease, c shoe et seetsenenasstrasaets annnanan

W. J. Bunker, € blacksmith ¢ L, uitiueieenseneinsecnsarsnonnsnas

$6,248

$591
385
41

$3,888

$107
495
375
255
255
265
14
252

55

67
42

99

63
34
00
07
07
07
79
33



INVESTIGATION OF AFFAIRS. 19

OrriceErs’ Savnariss (Continued.)

D. M. True, OVeISeer. suue sune cavs ansesncs sansacss asosses Ceeeaasen s $245 51 -
W. II. Ness, o eriraeen veee 55 47
W. L. Morrill, ¢ 123 28
A. Mero, guard 325 00
T. J. Rider, ¢ 325 00
G. H. Ingraham, ¢ 58 24
W. H. Fales, ¢ 27 08
J. C. Ingraham, ¢ 58 24
J. B Stimpson, < 316 13
T. P. Howard, ¢ 58 24
‘W. P. Bunker, ¢ 27 08
J. W, Fuller, L 265 64
G, B. Wormell, ¢ 268 31
T. S. Vose, I 179 19
H. Long, &€ 265 64
H. A. Willis, ¢ 54 31
A. A, Fales, € 37 39
R. H. Tinker, <€ 89 51
W. Andrews ves . . 9 24
Co Magey. o veerarerieeionnsnsneranceanns veseon 222 22
P. R. Baker, physician....... veee 100 00
$5,120 92

1862—November 30.
B. B. Thomas, deputy warden.... £600 00
A. Perkins, clerk........cov0ies . 375 00
D. Palmer, overseer shoe shop........ 261 02
H. C. Pease, €€ LAY 495 83
T. S. Greenlow, B LU 205 99
W. Fitzgerald, overseercarnageshop teeteten aate st tens aetrnaan anen 499 83
H. Morton .......... teraneesaees 499 83
w.J. Bunker, overseer blacksmith shop............ seeeeieianrsesannnan 498 46
L. H Burkitt, overseer of pamt shop.... feeee e e 125 79
W. H. Ness, overseer. 253 15
A. Mero, 325 00
T. J. Rider, 45 77
G. B. Wormell, 325 00
R. H. Tinker, 154 62
J. W. Fuller, 15 13
C. Maxcy, 11 87
G. H. Creamer, e eeet e aa ceveaea 170 51
J. E. Stimpson, * .......0.... ees esesacer nen eresaene eeeacieaeas 325 00
H. Long, € . Cesecaneeaaen e 213 61
A. H. Smith, s¢ 84 81
E. B. Thomas, ¢ 59 89
A. A. Newbert, ¢ 134 53
J. H. Piper, € 134 53
E. Thompson, € . et eeterentasesvees anenl 101 36
L. C. Mathews, ¢ ......eu... @ et et aeesanen bereareeaen e ann i 83 83
P. R. Baker, pPhysSiCian. c. coue coveveee ceneieuenrnn cnenvnnnmenn onne f 99 92
6,100 58
Less ¢’d Sumner and Maxey, paid B. MaZeY.e-ceeee s consvonesees snnsl 76 49
Balance .......... e eeseenheiieeae. caseneenanen aannsaesl $6,024 09
1863—November 30.

B. B. Thomas, deputy warden. ... eeeeveeeveve enenans eteraens Ceeeaans 459 70
C. Maxey,deputywarden ete. . 379 57
A. Perkins, clerk.. Gt eete teenteisennsaanseactaret ete sene srt anas 458 33
w. Fxtzgerald overseer carnage shop ............. C et et eirr e enas 500 00
H. Morton, . 500 00
1. H. Burkett, overseer paint shop..... ..cvvvevevann .. tesreucontonrn anas 500 00

I. C. York, overseer blacksmith shop.........c..... Cerereersnennenersesal 500 00
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

H. C. Pease, overseer shoe shop....

T. S. Greenlow, ¢ LA

A, Mero, guard...o coenaeiianan s

G. B. Wormell, ¢ . .c.iicnriiuinnneen

A. A. Newbert, ¢ .oeeviieneicnens .

J. H Piper, L T

J. E. Stimpson, ¢ it teiiiiii it neneaeen s

E. Thompson, i erieerrianes

H. Maxey, L T T T TP

J. Comery, et eteeteteienenasnee

J. M. Bartlett ¢ ool it ie i i eae ..

R.H Tinker, ¢ it iiiteiiiiritneeensentoaessessassssansosaeanns

J. . Morton, CE e ee sues sesranseceecancsseanates sate cuanaene anes

E. Weeks, L eeerscannan P

F. C. U’Brien, sttt ctenaren sans e . . earne et

J. M. Beverage, ¢ O ..

P. R Baker, physwlan .......... Ceresecstassranes sese sese coararessran

C. T. Chase, € B e e ¥urtas suvs usenwuss mene sune cnan vars sy cenee

1864—November 30.

Cyrus Maxey, deputy warden...... vese seereesn snnsanes tarevree e

A. Perkinps, clerk.. resane .o e eaenen .

H. C. Pease, overseershoeshop

T. S Greenlow, i B b e i et eteracentssr s saecesestanns

J. H Hardy, s e aa sies tin e Ceeresene e e

W. Fitzgerald, overseer camage shop ..................................

H. Morton, €6 6 ettt eret it aaeh e

I. 11 Burkett, overseer paint shop..... .c.vvveieiviniieiintiiiaann,s vees

I C. York, overseer of the blacksmxthehop.............................
Maxev,asswtant overseer.
Weeks, assistant overseer. . .c.o it iieeciee i it tiit viii i,

H.

E.

J. B Morton, guard
G. B, Wormell, ¢
A. Mero, €
A. A Newbert, “
J. BE. *tunpson, «
E. Thompson, “
J. D Hemenway,
T. J Rider, ¢
C. T Chase, physician ..........
Chaplains. .. coeevinnann

C. Maxey, deputy warden, ... coit vt viirvnns corteencnenconsanss
A, Perking, elerK.ou. ciit ittt tiit vt ras cnetsete ctee e neae eee
J. H. Hardy, overseer shoe shop. . .
W. Fitzgerald, overseer camage ehop

H. Morton, ¢ b . PP
I. It Burkett, overseer paint shop...........coiiiiiii .
I C. York, overseer blacksmith Shup
H. \1axey, assistant overseer.......
E. Weeks, « ¢
G. B. Wormell, guard...

E. Thompson, e
T. J. Rider, <
W. P Bunker, ¢
J. E. *mmpson, ¢
A. Mero, &
R K. Bunker, ¢
J. H Piper, s

A. A. Fales, ¢

$6,561

$600
500
155
208
425
583
581
573
583
441

$6,918

$733
500
641
541
644
718
654
510
516
86
375
375
307
383
6
66
266
132

31

00
00

39

34
01
67
89
59
81
22
10
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

21

C. T. Chase, physician...e.cereiesniriiieicinenreeaenannenaas Ceeeennnn

Chaplaing. .. ovee ceve sevn voneeoneavessansnnenenns ceenareneane [
Less charged building and repairsiie.ce cvee vevecienvnnsvnseaenns
Balanee .. vieeceit it it aitneiie ittt aiis sesseian e

C. Maxey, depuby Warden ...ucoee vt cvenivneenessnanacnsanessaneanas
A. Perkius, clerk..
J. H. Hardy, overseer of shoe shop Cereasesanseans
C. G. Chase, L L, .

W. Fitzgerald, overseer carrlage shop
H. Morton,

A. P. Piper, <« o et e
I. H. Burkett, overseer paint sbop terereeuene seseeee baannene arns
P. H. Coleman, ¢ e ittt erea ettt et ran e
I. C. York, overseer blacksmith shop.......

T. W. Barker, ¢ ¢ ¢ hereien eees

H. Maxey, assistant OVerseer...veeecee siee sensnees cues eee eeiaens
E. Weeks, assistant Overseer ...ove vove vevncsne e
E. 'l‘hompson, BUATA +ee ceet tiae et et ies s eee esae caan e PR

J. H. Piper, s
T. J. Rider, ¢
J. E. Stimpson, *¢
A. A. Fales, ‘¢
E. F. Demuth, ¢
S. H. Felker, £
R Thurlough, ¢

Zenas Reed, [
W. P. Bunker, *¢
L. 0. Kirk, ¢
A.D. Nash, ¢
Samuel Reed, €
E. Grey, ¢
A. Eugley, 6

A. A. Newbert, <
W. Johnson, ¢
C. H. Shibbles, ¢

J, E. Brown, C et teentorsaesnnann srtacsneanse cnnn erervane baes
C. T. Chase, physician....coveieee it iieetieeniiisnnenssenassnancenans
Chaplainge soveve vereanee vonevuneanns Ceeeerieataeans [P

Less charged building and repairs, extra guard...oeeveesceeevivnuinn vann

Balance .veeee seeeciieninenns R aaas anes saas sessanarraan s as

C. Maxey, deputy warden .....ovu.uue
A. P. Wood, deputy warden teeceneenns versases
E'G'Ci{;e'é,"ly‘%}séé{shoe shop. e e
J. H. Hardy, € it ittt tite ettt aens siiaenaanae nas

T, W. Barker, ‘overseer blacksmxnh shop..
H.J. btevens, ¢ ..
H. Maxey, assistant overseer...... .... ...
E. Weeks, ¢ it ietiiee i
J. IL. Piper, turnkey..... tedreeisnenn

A A Naowhont per |
. A, NOWOEIUy BUGTRec venn vesars anee

$100 00
150 00

7,708 83
21 50

$7,687 33

$800 00
500 00
700 00
192 02
317 18
696 17
452 T4
116 36
551 04
565 56
128 17
591 79
600 00
400 00
400 00
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

Zenas Reed,  gUAId.eee oot ennesens soneaoceoncsacesoncsonssnnsnones $384 17
W. Johnson, € cieeaieeuretoseanscessncacesroncnosssseansons sans 85 93
C H. Shibbles, ee et seateene cret ceen saee neesaesnants s aas 382 65
E. Thompson, [ te sans aene saee seee asse cnteorns asan 397 82
J. E. Stimpson, . N cesecassacesanse 466 67
B. Davis, ses aecasacsnans 186 76
8. H. Goddard, Ceeeseaieseeeecen aeecete aens sensantnanes anns 276 04
W. P. Bunker, besraiasanes Ceteesseanesanas PR 228 89
Charles Storer, . Presesse srae 283 96
Isaac Reed, 44 93
C. H. Gloyd, ¢ 137 29
J. E. Brown, € Cheeettaeseeiat e anneans 41 10
W. G. Rice, it eeessisesitesatssenenensans e Sens cemecsnsanan 166 67
J. Maxey,gate-keeper e e sn aues RausaEns akes asne snnsteesasus nans 53 07
John French, gate- keeper ..... P 187 49
C. T. Chase, physician ....................... [ ceens 133 08
ChAPIAINS. vt e ve et coenoe o osnsuosecras sass aanaasassaseasossansanss 177 00
11,649 03

Less charged bm]dm«r and repau's, exXtra guards...cevene veeeaaa. 685 00

labor of overseers........ cess. 700 00
- 1,385 00
$10,264 03

1868—November 30.

Amos P. Wood, deputy warden.....oeeveveaeenan $558 72
Elbridge Burton, deputy warden, ete....cous cine vienaienoanearuscansaans 448 37
A. Perkms P S € Mucr mans anns mssE seseses saasmase 550 00
J. H. Hardy, overseershoeshop See ise ssesasasasseesas asanenns 159 08
C. G. Chase, e LN 773 53
T. F. Phiuney, € € e 536 22
H. Morton, overseer earnage shop 789 06
A. P, Piper, ¢ . 787 95
A. Alden, ¢ ¢ ‘¢ 728 95
P, . Coleman, overseer paint shop 787 42
H. J. Stevens. overseer blacksmith shop ................................ 795 61
H. Maxey, assistant OVerseer...vee vove cvenava. cane on 200 00
E. Weeks, ¢ e 196 72
W. P. Bunker, assistant overseer and guard . 473 29
J. H. Piper, turnkey........ e arean 311 45
W. G. Rice, turnkey and guard e 437 50
A. A. Newbert, guard 499 99
Charles Storer, ¢ 326 59
8. H. Goddard, ¢ 220 09
E. Thompson, ¢ 395 64
J. E Stimpson, *¢ 497 26
J. E. Brown, ¢ 82 17
H. A. Willis, ¢ 326 13
John Storer, e 247 73
L. Burton, £ 155 94
C. Palmer, “ 100 45
J. F. Burton, ¢ 89 68
J. K. Pierce, ¢ 52 06
John French,  gate- 233 89
8. F. Robinson, ¢ 38 35
J. W. Peabody, 76 53
W. P. Rice, 54 40
L. M. Sargent.....ooveunan. e . 107 41
C. T. Chase,physmmn ........... e aeeeaae. 150 25
ChapPIaing. e ovve corevies sane tanesennarosvass cons consonnn sane anneanes 212 00
$12,401 42
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

Less charged building and repairs, with labor of Maxey, Weeks
and Burton........ fraeeeta s aas v et s $593 96

L. M. Sargent, labor.. PP 101 -3 §
~ 701 37

50 0 T Y &3 8 I (1T 1)

E. Burton, deputy warden.... ceer viee sitt cienenit tren snneseenaann $800 01
A, P(,rkms clerk.. See sbts asaaanne sess nase assasennnans 550 00
C. C. Chase, overseer shoe shop. 786 88
T. F. Phinney, < Lo 735 76
H. Morton, overseer carriage shop 780 31
A. P. Piper, 6 ¢ . 783 59
A. Alden, ¢ € b Ceee eeee eer s avesbees e 323 65
S. H. Glidden, ¢ € B teiestre ettt taes eren e veusaes 442 92
P. H. Coleman, overseer paint shop..osvvee vien e ve iiit s innevons anan 750 13
H. J. Stevens, overseer blacksmlth shop . 790 16
W. P. Bunker, “ 546 38
Wmn. G. Rice, commissary .... cooeeues e 550 00
A. A. Newbert, guard.o.e.oee cevevenevanenes 497 26
J. M. Storer, ¢ 134 83
L. Burton, ¢ 222 43
C. S. Palmer, ¢ 495 21
E. Thompson, e 392 3%
J. E. Stimpson, ¢¢ 500 00
H. A Willis, ¢ 433 18
J. F. Burton, B i e e neo anes tuon st raaenn tsar suas ura e vaes reas sn & 393 91
W. P. Rice, € ettt teee eree caet tiae et ra ene abae seas aenn bens 202 67
E. B. Fales, e ererenie e 259 02
J. W, Peabody, gate-keeper 389 18
L. M. Sargent ...ccevvieiiiininniiennain e 447 86
C.T Chaqe,physwlan 150 00
Chaplains. . P 206 75
12,585 86

Less charged building and repairs, with extra guards’ salary and labor. .... 593 23
Balance ..... esar craesaeceree sase asesantt aann aas eres -0l 511,992 63

1870—November 30.

E. Burton, deputy warden.. e et et eses ares aeer ares ceae seen eas $891 66
A. Perkms clerk.. .. 583 33
C. G. Chase, overseershoeshop s a A% atae aaaraneshesasees aeen ane oL 72
T. F. Phioney, ¢ B e eeer eetearae mees s ae st brae waas 239 81
A. T. Somerby, ¢ Y 507 39
H. Morton, overseer carriage shop .......... cereanse e IR 793 44
A. P. Piper, € ¢ LA S eeat anes nue neen bnes anas eens 795 63
8. H. Glidden, i < e i e e 545 58
C. E. Dunbar, ¢« ¢ B it iiueessrtrentecnennien soaares 447 50
G. B. Hutchins, o ¢« €6 it teceracracts anesmnssuare sent 112 16
H. J. Stevens, overseer blacksmlth shop e esa s 795 62
W. P. Bunker, ¢¢ .. . 646 44
W. H. Smith, overseer hamess 1511165+ SR PN . 477 59
Wm. G. Rice, 2sgistant overseer. .. ... iiivent cnsans 583 33
W. P. Rice, commissary.. 525 00
A A Newbert guurd 497 27
C. 8. Palmer, “L. 45 09
E. B. Fales, o 214 62
H. A. Willis, € 176 22
J. E. Stimpson, ¢ 220 10
E. Thompson, ¢ 400 00
J. F. Burton “ 378 20

v i, SUrLOnD,
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

R. K. Bunker, guard.... eeevornvene cnat et onennsnssennnvareonas snns
J. H. Little, 8 et teee ae aeen ane eraeeeen et anas e e aas
J. E Mears, € e aestasesane esesesesveee eas eeeeassessanannn
S. A, Spear, it et ettt sien e ceeeaaes et atas e bhaen
M. A. Morse, ¢

L. Burton, e

W. A. Evang, o«

T. L. Gillehrist, <

E. A. Willis, ¢
A. F. Burton, gate-keepar ..
C. T. Chase, physwmn

Chaplains......co e ieiennnevnnnaene

P. H. Coleman, overseer pamt shop

A. A. Rice, ¢¢

I. H. Burkett, ¢ ¢ “¢

Less charged building and repairs, extra guards’ salary... .. e ereeianaens

Balaneo «uvineseenenee sonsnenietece seasseen soneaannase cans

1871—November 30.

E. Burton, deputy warden .

W. A, Evans, deputy warden and guard
A. Perkins, clerK.o.i v iene cinnannn s
A T. Somerby, overseer shoe shop ... .coovueviusvennnen
E. A. Willis, assistant overseer shoe shop
C. @&. Chase, owerseer shoe shop .................................... seren
H. Morton, overseer carrlage shop N
A. P. Piper, ¢ ¢

C. E Dunbar, ¢ ¢

C. D Tewksbury, *¢ €

I. H. Burkett, overseer paint shop.
H.J %evens, overseer blackﬂmlth sbop ...............................
W. P. Bunker, «

W. II. Smith, overseer harness shop
Wm G Rice, assistant overseer... .....

W. P. Rice, commissary......

A. A, Newbert, guard..............

J H. Little, € e e .

J. E. Mears, it ieer i

T. L. Gillehrist, ¢ ..eivn.ienaan.

E. B. Fales, Lo

K. Thompson, e

M. A. Morse, €6 iei e i
J. F. Burton, et iieere it taee s
H. A. Willis, e ieiean e e
G. W. Robinson, ¢ .

E. C. Bucklin, “
E. 0. Cushing, ‘¢

G. C. Palmer, ¢

C. B. Bailey, €€

A. G. Robinson, ¢

S. Oliver, ©

F. K. Cushmg, guard and gate keeper

J. G. Fales, gate-keeper ......uu.

A. F. Burton, ¢ teseeanes

M. R meford ¢ cvesranes

C. T, Chase, physmlan ........................................ P
LT

Less charged building and repairs, extra guards’ Salary..e.eee vove euns onss

Balanee c.ivveviri it eiiennen it niannee T

13,578
300

$13,278

$401
664
600
449
549
423
268
705
760
470
724
772
645
790
666
578
500
383
490
146
181
398
193

14,429
500

$13,929

27
00

27

10
32
00
17
28
50
66
20

92
00

92
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1872—November 30.

Wm. A. Evans, deputy warden....coov et nier cint tivncnnevens voneaens
A, Perking, Clork . ce cone ciit viie taer it bt aa ..
C. G. Chase, overseer shoe shop..ccciit it ciet it ciiseerevenn senn

A. P. Piper, overseer carriage shop..

C. E. Dunbar, ¢ e “o

C. D Tewksbury, ¢ é 6

I. H. Burkett, overseer paint shop. ... voieiiirirntciiiiiie vair cvnnonns
H. J. Stevens, overseer blacksmith shop...cieve veeiiii i veeinaunn

‘W. P. Bunker, ¢ € O et eerebecerarrast casnanes anns
W. IL. Smith, overseer harness Shop..oe v v vees et vuencenncens sane nnen
W. G. Rice, A8SISEANE OVerSeer. svue cvve corve aenr sunn sevonnee vons annr
A. O. Tobie, ¢ e f s et eeseaess sasesars seee snreness soes
A. A Newbert, ¢ 8 eeearenuacie tres teas dses ceen aeen mane
J. B. Loring, ¢« € e,
A. J. Butler, ¢ B i teseiees tete et anen aras s
E. A. Willis, i it tett e ettt teantien i iene e
W. P Rice, COMMISSAIT .t vuiue cine tuen cinessenanessans senssoanneensuns
E. C. Bucklin, gua.rd ..............................................
P. O. Parker, f e n e eees eae iseeeses ees teescura e sues
G. Sidensparker,  © ..l iiiiiieiiier e cienanasaons [N
W. A. Light, e e et e e e e e e vae s
J. W. Hussey, ¢ . e mxme ke E mueaasEwsan EAEs aens
I. Pitcher, €
H. B. Moore, ¢
0. Benner, s
J. G. Fales, ¢
A. G. Robinson, ¢
M. G. Titus, ¢
E. B. Thomas, ¢
J. Longley, ¢
A. J. Hall, « Caane ctes sear sass tees sennsens srse suse snan
C. B. Bailey, e i tiit hhe suss nnkneen mnae make wsas arenness
G. W Robinson, % . iee . ten i vne sacrvrtearneaenertsseesonnsaens
J. E. Mears, ¢¢

D. Andrews, ¢«
F. K. Cushing, ¢
E. 0. Cushing, e

H. A. Willis, ¢

E. Thompson, “¢

G. C. Palmer, 6

W. H. Tarbox, gate- keeper

J. E. Hartford, ¢

A. M. Hix, <

J. G. Rice, €

E. Stevens, € e e beee eahs aees saes st sane nene et aes

C. T. Chase, Physician.. .. cvueeirius tintareeannovens sonnsnensaesanns

Less charged building and repairs, with extra guards’ salary..............
»

Balance «v.ieeveereeitcieeiionannn Stssareenens seaeaessnenn

1873—November 30.

W. A. Evans, deputy warden...... .. cessencsteanesasenaons
W. & Rice, deput,y warden and ass1stant, OVOTBEBT v s v vems oo v e
A. Perkms,clerk .. e eete seee asia ssetaias tent cae. ceenaean

C. G. Chase, overseer shoe shop .......

A. P. Piper, overseer carriage shop. .

Wm. Vanstone, ¢ ¢ € eeesacassereasen cesoaneaes
C. E. Dunbar, ¢ < o icmsectsrsta-ucatss vaseasnanene
T, H. Smith, overseer paint shop..ees coer coveciieveen vns »ases sessennn
I. H. Burkett, ¢ o ettt eeeereastaaaatanosas saananns

A. O. Tobie, assistant overseer paint shop...ceveviee it iiieviiennnnnes

14 503 30
666 00

$13,837 30
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

A. Light, e isiei e
Ww. Huzzey, AL

B. Walker, physician....
T. Chase, physician....eeeeueeerinnacass

Charged to expeuse account:

H. J. Stevens, overseer blacksmlth 51370

‘W. P. Bunker, < € i eieresacenaan

‘W. H. Smith, overseer hamess shop

A J. Butler, overseer trimmer shop [

J. B, Loring,  assistant overseer.........

A, A, Newbert, ¢ L
W. P. Rice, COMMISSATY v vvvevnrevansseranonecnseanns reeeeteesiie e,
E. Stevens, gate-keeper

J. E. Mears, guard

W. L. Barrows, <.

E. Keller, “ ..

A. G, Robmson, € ..

C. E. Herbert, R .

E. C. Bucklin, it tiierteree e arar et anennen

A. 8. Lemond, i ieiie e .

J. G. Rice, B it teeeesarsetacasssecsesssesnnne et srre nans
P. 0. Parker, [ .

R. Page, ¢

L. E. Sprowl, €

‘W. L. Bickford, o

F. C. O’Brien, e .
G Sidensparker, € Lii.iiiiieiieeaies ceteaees teneanenanasaenaeas
I. S. Meserve, N
F. N. Balley, it aint st senc acesases asan arar nune aera onnn

I. B. Pitcher, ettt ierteeet e seat i terearecers bnae aaes
w.

J.

J.

C.

Chaplaing. .o viveiietiietiresienaneeosnncoeeonecansveosanons

$169

586
296

122

97
73
143

$14,136
139

96
00

Salary of Chaplain of State Prison for the years 1854, 1863,

1871, 1872, and 1873:

1863 n e anen v e e, ORI
IBTLoms oo e e

$300
350

ans

1,000
375

00
00
00
00
00

Salaries of Inspectors and Commissioners of State Prison from
1854 to 1873, inclusive, excepting the years 1862 and 1865, for

which no appropriations were made :

1854 tivsviennannans e eesseseunscant sete saseenne sees anen toenaene snas
1855 vviene veeeanan .

1856 covensn ceeeaans

1857 vueee vrannns

1858 covverrennnnann vees vssec erns setn sacs os e

1859, Commissioners ..

1860, ¢

1861, ¢

1863 ceveecvnnvenarones

1864 ....... cesecaane

1866 -ovmvnrmoin v s
1867 e venesersins

$125
50
172
200
200
600
513
100
200
200
200
200
K63

00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
00
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Orricers’ Savaries, (Continued.)

1869 +evunvs cnve eam men seuateen aneeanesannesnes aane snreanneaameanss| 5350 00
1870 .. . eteemscnatenasen 200 00
1873, (Including Inspector of Jails)....ceveiveeniaireniieniiecannnnss 460 33

Salary of Warden of State Prison, from 1854 to 1873, inclusive :

1854 e ceee eee ee et et aean enee et tean e e aeeenean et eienneeneans]  $700 00
1855 1au vuue veen eneearen an e anee mnen taen easaeeaeet aateenen enonan 723 00

779 00

643 90

700 00

700 00
1,200 00
1,200 00
1,200 00
1,200 00
1,200 00
1,800 00
2,500 00
2,600 00
2,500 00
2,500 00
2,500 00
2,500 00
4,000 00
4,000 00

‘s







REPORT

or

TESTIMONY,

BY

REUEL SMITH of Bangor,

STENOGRAPHER.







TESTIMONY.

B. K. KeLroce was sworn and examined as follows :

Questions by Mr. Knowlton.

Q. Where do you reside ?

A. At Thomaston, in the village.

Q. How long have you resided there?

A. 1 went there, I think, on the 10th day of June, 1856.

Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Rice, the Warden of the State
Prison ?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Have you visited the prison frequently ?

A. No sir.

Q. When was you there last ?

A. Twas there on the night of the fire, and it is my impression,
though I do not wish to state positively, that I have been there
once since. I was called there on business once, either before or
after the fire.

Q. When did the fire occur ?

A. T cannot state when it occurred. I do not remember the

Q. Can you state nearly the time?

A. No sir.

Q. Do you know anything, of your own knowledge, about the
management of the affairs of the State Prison ?

Witness. Within the limits of the walls ? :

Mr. Knowlton. I did not put any limits to it. I ask if you
know anything about the management of the affairs of the State
Prison, of your own personal knowledge ?

A. I bhave not, except so far as my knowledge is based upon
reports.

Q. Have you any letters or papers of any kind in your posses-
sion or under your control, bearing upon the management of the
affairs of the State Prison?
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A. Thave no papers. I have one letter; but I cannot say
upon oath whether it bears upon the management of the prison or
not. Itis at my boarding place now.

Q. Have you or not in your possession or under your control
any letters or papers other than the one you have referred to?

A. T have no original papers. I have a list of the salaries, or
I think it is in the hands of some member of the Committee now.

Q. Were the remarks that you made in the house, bearing
upon the management of the prison, made on account of any
knowledge or information that you had from any source other than
common reports ?

A. Yes; but first I wish you and the other members of the
Committee to understand that you cannot hold me responsible,
either here or elsewhere, for anything said in debate in the House
on this question ; nevertheless I am willing to state what I know.
I based my remarks upon statements drawn from the Treasurer’s
office and upon the Warden’s reports.

Q. The letter you have you will produce?

A. Yes, if it is still in my possession, and I think it is. It was
in my trunk the last time [ saw it.

Q. Have you had-any correspondence with any parties with
regard to the management of the prison and the conduct of the
affuirs there ?

A. I think not. I may have written one or two letters to
some of my friends stating that the prison Committee had not had
any sittings, or might have sittings at such and such times.

Q. That did not come within the question that I asked. Ilave
you ever seen in the possession of any other person or persons
any papers, letters or documents, other than public documents,
bearing upon the affairs of the prison or the treatment of the pris-
oners?

A. T cannot recall any. I may have seen papers, but do not
recall them.

Questions by Mr. Talbot.

Q. Upon what do you base your remarks made in the House;
you say you have no objection to stating it ?

A. Perhaps the Chairman may have misunderstood. My state-
ment in regard to salaries was made upon an approximate list of
salaries and the sum of the appropriations drawn from the depart-
ment last winter. The salaries—the $13,000 and something more
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—were taken from the Warden’s report. I taking it for granted
that the approximate was nearly correct.

Q. Can you state about the time of the fire ?

A. T think it was between the first and the sixth of December
last. I did not fix the date in mind.

Q. What time did you go to the fire? At what stage of the
fire ?

A. T think it was between the hours of twelve and two o’clock
in the morning when I went there.

Q. How came you to go there ?

A. It was because of the alarm, or rather the disturbance on
the street. I did not hear the alarm. I went to sleep after the
first noise, and afterwards I heard the rumbling of the wheels of
the engine from Rockland, and got up and went to the fire. I
think when I got there I went into the guard-room first.

Q. State the condition of the fire and what means were being
used to extinguish it, and all you know about it.

A. WhenI arrived in the guard-room it was nearly full of
people. The building was partly consumed. I cannot state what
position of the engines inside were or what they were doing to
put the fire out; but afterwards, when I wént out, I went towards
Main street and found the Eureka company stationed outside.

Q. Had the engine company from Rockland arrived when you
got there ?

A. 1think it had. When I saw it, I think it was stationed at
the O’Brien block, east of the prison walls. It was east or south-
east from the prison house. The O’Brien block fronts on Main
street, and Wardsworth street runs down on the eastern side of
the prison, and right here (witness illustrating by assumed points
on the table), in the corner, was stationed this engine.

Q. Was that engine playing upon the fire ?

A. Not at the time I saw it. They were about to move it, 1
helped them move it. They moved it down on Main street and "
opened the reservoir down by Mr. Robinson’s house.

Where was the State of Maine engine at that time?
1 do not know.
Where was the engine belonging to the State?
I do not know.
How many engines were there ?
I know that there were two there.
3

PoPFo>o
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Q. What is the distance from Rockland to Thomaston,—the
distance that the engine had to come ?

A. It is from three and a half to four miles. I supposed, when
I heard it passing the house, that horses were drawing it.

Q. Did you hear anything said about the extinguishment of
the fire, at the time, by any person about the prison ?

.A. Noj; only this: A few minutes after I got into the guard-
room, in conversation with the Warden, he made a remark (I do
not know as I can state the exact words) like this: ¢ It is the
strangest thing to me in the world that the fire could not have
been put out.”’

Q. Did he or any one else there give any account of the origin
of the fire, or any information as to what they supposed the origin
was !

A. There were various theories about it. It is my impression
(I state it from reccllection wholly) that the overseer of the shoe
factory stated that, in his judgment, the fire originated in the
corner, or near the corner, of the building (I term it the north-
west corner), and he also said something about the guards going
around that evening to see if the shops were all right, and that
there was no fire in the stoves.

Q. Did he say how long before the fire occurred that any one
visited the shop to see about the fire ?

Yes, I think he did.

Did he state that it was in the evening ?

Yes, I think he did.

Did he state who that officer was that made the visits ?
No; I think not.

Do you know who had charge of that building ?

No; I have no knowledge who it was. It is said that a
man named Piper was the officer, but I have no knowledge.

Q. Did you hear any other one give any account of the origin
of the fire or say anything about its possibility of being put out
when first discovered ?

A. No, sir.

porOROP

Questions by Mr. Knowlton.

Q. Was there a prison officer in charge of either of those fire
engines ?

A. T donot know. The one I was at work on was in charge

of the persons who were working it. I do not know what officers
were in charge.
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Q. Was there any engineer or person who pretended to take
charge ?

A. There was one fire-warden there; he belonged in Thomas-
ton.

Q. Was he giving directions in regard to working the ma-
chines ?

A. T did not hear him give any.

Q. You saw him about the fire ?

A, Yes.

Q. I suppose you do not know, of your own knowledge,
whether the engines were worked advantageously or otherwise ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Or what efforts were made to extinguish the fire ?

A. No, sir.

Mr. Talbot: Did you see the inspectors there that night ?

A. T think not.

Mr. Talbot: Were you in position to see whether there was
any attempt made fo take anything out of the building ?

A. No, sir.

Q. OCould not the building have been entered at either end of
it after you got there ?

A. I think not.

Dr. Cuaries T. Coasg, sworn and examined as follows:

Questions by Mr. Knowllon.

When did you commence ?
In connection with Mr. Rice’s administration, T commenced
August 4th, 1863. I was there during a portion of 1857 and ’58.

Q. What years were you physician to the prison while Mr.
Rice was warden ?

A. From the 4th of August, 1863, to the 14th of August, 1873
—ten years and ten days.

Q. Have you any knowledge of the management of the finan-
cial affairs of the prison.

Q. Where do you reside?

A, In Thomaston.

Q. Your profession is physician and surgeon ?
A. Yes. '
Q. You have been physician to the State Prison?
A. T have.

Q.

A.

A N i
i, iNO, Sir.
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Q. Have you a book which will show how many times you
visited the prison during each of those years ?

A. T have not. .

Q. Have you any papers or documents showing how many
visits you made during each of those years?

A. T have not.

Q. Have not you ever had a record of the number of visits
made in any year?

A. Thave norecord showing all my visits. I have a record,
very imperfectly kept, commencing July 25th, 1869, more than
six years after I was appointed.

Q. Did not you keep any record or memorandum of the visits
you made at the prison earlier than 1869 7

A. No, this is the first that I ever kept. I have looked over
this book and find that there are intervals of six months when no
record was kept. And there are intervals of ten days and twenty
days and thirty days. Ilooked over this book to note some of
the intervals. )

Q. What was the necessity of keeping the record at all?

A. T kept this record to answer my own convenience in cases
like these: in the treatment of chronic cases; prisoners would
often come and say that they wanted such medicines as I had
given some weeks previous.

Q. Does that book show the particular cases?

A. No, it does not show the diseases at all; there are no
names of prisoners entered nor the diseases.

Q. Had you any other object in keeping that
one you have already indicated ?

A. None other.

Q. Have you kept any other book aside from that ?

A. Ikepta book a portion of 1873. It is not now in my pos-
session. I have a note from the warden saying that he has the
book.

Q. Have you ever, during any portion of the time you was
physician to the prison, kept the number of visits you made ?

A. T1have from the 14th of April 1873, to the 14th of August
of the same year. That is the only period in which I kept a full
record of all my doings.

Q. How often did you visit the prison?

A. Sometimes two or three times a day, and sometimes two
or three times a week. '
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Q. During your visits did you attend to any others than those
reported sick ?

A. T attended to only those that the deputy warden called
complaining.

Q. Did you make such examinations as to satisfy yourself in
regard to the sanitary condition of the prison ?

A. Yes, Idid.

Q. And your report shows what you found it to be ?

A. Yes. '

Q. Did you make any inquiries during those examinations
concerning the treatment of the prisoners ?

A. I made no professional inquiries into it.

Q. When you speak of professional inquiry the Committee
may be in the dark as to what that is; did you make inquiries of
the officers of the prison?

A. 1 gave some attention to the matter of punishment each
year.

Q. Did you give any directions in regard to a change ?

A. On one occasion I did.

Q. That direction was observed was it not ?

A. 1 do not know.

Q. Did you inquire whether your direction was complied
with ?

A. I never was consulted in regard to punishment, conse-
quently I did not consider it my province to give direction in that
matter ; however 1 did give directions at one time. ‘

Q. State whether you inquired to see if your directions was
followed 7

A. T gave direction to the deputy warden, and told the warden
that I had given the direction, but as I had not been called upon
in the matter, I did not consider that it devolved upon me to
look after it.

Q. State whether you know of your own knowledge of any
improper treatment of any prisoner ?

A. In relation to the matter of punishment.—The system of
punishment adopted there and carried out is certainly to my mind,
objectionable.

Q. Have you any knowledge yourself of any abuses in the
treatment of the prisoners there?

A. (Referring to report to recall the name). William McNor-
ton died during the year 1870 of inflammation of the brain. He
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came out of the dungeon with the disease upon him and died
within a few days. I considered the incarceration in the dungeon
as the exciting cause of the inflammation of the brain. I do not
know what he was put in the dungeon for, nor how long he
remained ; nor do I know his condition when put in.

Q. Did you give in your report a full account of all the mat-
ters bearing upon it ?

A. No, sir; I simply gave the name of the disease of which ke
died. '

Q. Did it occur to you at the time that that was the cause of
his death ?

A. Tt did.
Q. Did you ever make any complaint to any officer of the
prison?

A. Frequently; I did at that time and previously and subse-
quently too, in regard to putting men in the dungeon, particularly
in freezing weather. This same man had his feet chilled in the
dungeon 8o as to trouble him considerably.

One of the rules of prison discipline allows this does it not ?
I have no knowledge about that.

Now to whom did you make the complaint ?

I first talked with the deputy warden, Cyrus Maxey.

Who else?

Elbridge Burton.

Who else ?

William A. Evans. I believe those were the only deputy
wardens there while T was there except Amos P. Weoed, I do
not remember whether I talked with him about it or not. It was
a matter I often talked with them about.

Q. State whether you made any complaint such as these gen-
tlemen were bound to take notice of.

A. In the winter of 1870-71, I positively forbid Elbridge Bur-
ton putting prisoners into the dungeon during freezing weather,
and I told the warden on the same day, within an hour after, what
I had said to the deputy warden.

Q. Do you know whether prisoners were put in afterwards ?

A. 1 do not know.

Q. Do you know of any other abuses, within your own knowl-
edge? if so, state what they were and by what officer.

A. 1 wish to make a distinction between abuses and the effect
of the system of punishment when carried to the extreme. If the

FOPOFOER
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gystem of punishment carried to the extreme is approved by the
regulation of the prison, judging from its deleterious effects upon
the prisoners, I think I have cases to mention.

Q. What I want to inquire of you is, whether you know of
any individual abuses other than the one you spoke of?

A. I do not know. I cannot testify with regard to that
because I did not control the matter of punishment.

Q. Now state what you know about the general effect of the
prison discipline.

A. Asregards the discipline as bearing upon men while engaged
at labor—while at work—I do not know that there is anything
objectionable. T did not consider that under my especial care and
I made no inquiry into it.

Q. State, if you know from your own connection with the
prison, any neglect or improper conduct of any of the officials of
the prison.

A. None ever came under my notice except what I have
stated in regard to the system of punishment when carried to the
extreme, and that is to be charged to the system. I will state
why I gave that positive order at that time and never gave it
before : there were two deaths there during the year of 1870.
This McNorton was broken down in my opinion by incarceration
in the dungeon. His feet were chilled and troubled him consider-
ably. He was not long imprisoned but run down considerably.
He was what is called an obstinate prisoner. The effect upon
him was such as to confirm me in my prejudice against putting
them in the dungeon during freezing weather, and I did not wish
to have it upon my skirts any longer. I do not know that I had
a right to give any such order, but I ventured to give it.

Q. Will you state if you have in your mind any other cause of
complaint in regard to the treatment of the prisoners?

A. No prisoners ever came under my observation unless they
were sick, and they were always taken care of as well as the
nature of the building and the circumstances would admit of;
whatever I thought they needed was ordered for them.

Q. And furnished?

A. Yes, while they were under my treatment it was,

Q. Aside from what you have already stated have you yourself
observed any want of attention or abuse to the prisoners while
about their work or in any place connected with the prison?

A. No, sir.
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Q. Whether you have now or ever have had in your possession
any letters, papers or documents, other than public documents,
showing any improper conduct in the management of the affairs of
the prison, on the part of the warden or any of the subordinate
officers 7

A. I have not.

Q. Can you give the Committee any information tending to
show any improper conduct, other than that you have referred to,
on the part of the Warden or any of the subordinate officers since
Mr. Rice took charge of the prison ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Have you furnished some articles for the press in regard to
the State Prison and the management of affairs there ?

A. Occasionally I have.

Q. Were those articles based upon the information you have
already given us?

A. There was nothing touching the sanitary condition of the
prison in those articles.

Q. In regard to those articles have you information other than
what you got from public documents ?

A. Yes, and from statistics in the archives here at Augusta.

Q: State what information you have received from documents
other than public documents, and those statistics upon which you
based the statements in those several articles.

A. Perhaps I did not understand your other question.

Q. Will you furnish such information as you had upon which
to base the statements in those articles, other than from public
documents ?

A. From that paper which you hold in your hand and this
paper which I have in my hand, and the reports of the warden
and inspectors. I will state that the appropriation in this paper—
it was for "72 (as I received it), $10,000, and in that paper it was
$15,000, and I corrected this by that.

Q. From whom did you receive that?

A. TFrom Ebenezer Otis, of Rockland. (Paper marked A.)

Q. Was this a paper you prepared yourself?

A. No, sir, the name of the writer is there. It was dated in
the Senate Chamber last year.

Q. The statistics of the prison were founded upon these two
papers ?
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Yes, and this paper. This paper was from Mr. Kennedy.

(Paper marked B.)

Q. What was your salary in 18637 :

A. $100. I did not receive that, because I did not serve the
full year.

Q. What was it in 1864 7

A. Treceived $100.

Q. What did you receive in 18667

A. $100.

Q. What did you receive in 18677

A. $137.50.

Q. Whatin 18687

A. $150.

Q. Andin 1869, $150, and so on, later 7

A. Yes.

Q. Did you receive more than $150 for any year?

A. My bill for 1873 has never been settled.

Q. How much did you receive in 1872 ?

A. $150.

Q. Who fixes your compensation ?

A. Ido not know.

Q. Was it raised above $1507

A. Thatis all I received.

Q. Do you know the compensation of other officers of the
prison ? ’

A. Only from what they tell me and from what is on record,

because I have never paid them.

Q.

Did you at any time make an application to the inspectors

or to any of the officials connected with the prison to have your
compensation increased ?

croror

I did in January, 1873.

Wasg it increased ?

It was not then.

Was it at any time ?

I cannot say; I have not settled up.

Did you ever say that unless they did raise your compensa-

tion you would give some information to the public, or make
public some abuses ?

A.

Not in that connection ; after they refused to raise it ; after

it was settled upon I did say that I would.
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Q. What abuses were those to which you referred at that
time ?

A. I did not use the term abuses, I used the term corruption,
and referred to the salaries of the wardens, inspectors and chaplain
not appearing in the report, and the creation of the office of com-
missary for one of the warden’s boys?

Under whose charge were these matters?

I do not know.

Who fixes the compensation ?

I do not know.

The corruption that you referred to, bore upon the compen-
sation of the officers of the prison, including the chaplain ?

A. That the reports of the officers, the inspectors and the
wardens did not convey a true account of the expenses of the
prison. _

Q. To whom did you state that you should expose the cor-
ruption in the management and conduct of the institution ?

A. To William Wilson and Rufus Prince; they were the in-
spectors.

Q. When was it?

A. On the 14th day of April, 1873, between the hours of one
and two o’clock.

Q. That is very specific, and I appreciate the strength of your
memory, and am obliged to you for giving it so accurate. When
was the first, and for what paper was the first article furnished ?

A. To the Rockland Free Press, issued on the 30th of July,
1873. There was, a week or two before that, a short paragraph
written, ‘

Q. When and for what paper was the next article furnished ?

A. On the 12th of November, for the same paper.

Q. When was the next 7

A. I never wrote any others.

LELOL=O

Questions by Mr. Talbot.

Q. Have you examined the report laid before the Legislature
as to the pay of the officers ?

A. I have, sir.

Q. Have you looked at your own salary ?

A. 1T have, sir.

Q. I understood you to say that you had not received over
$150 for any year?
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A. Yessir. That (referring to the report) is incorrect. It is
twenty-five cents incorrect. There may be some charges on the
book that are due to me. I have not had that.

Q. Do you know whether Cyrus Maxcy has been an officer of
that prison ? )

A. He has worked there either in the capacity of overseer or
deputy warden. Maxcy was a deputy in 1866. IHe was away
from the prison for a time. Ile was there the last four years, and
his name does not appear at all.

Q. Do you find his name anywhere among the officers ?

A. Tdo not.

Q. Do you know whether Henry C. Marden is an officer of the
prison ?

A. Yes. '

Q. Do you find his name in the reports ?

-A. His name does not appear in the communication to the
Governor, but does appear in the reports of the inspectors and
warden. e has been there since 1865. He is there now. His
name is in the report of 1873 of the warden and the inspectors.

Q. You stated that you knew nothing about any cases of mis-
management or abuse of the prisoners that were at work. State
if there have been any other cases among sick prisoners that have
come to your knowledge ?

A. When Lawrence Doyle died in October, 1872, I reported
his case embolism or thrombosis. 1 used the terms embolism and
thrombosis as convertible terms. There was not at that time,
within my reach, any work which enabled me to make the distinc-
tion, but since October, 1872, there has been published a thesis
by Prof. Lydell, of New York, which fixes the use of the term
thrombosis as meaning the clotting of blood in the blood vessels,
it remaining where it is formed ; embolism meaning the lodging
of a clot at any particular spot, having been formed elsewhere and
carried to the point where it lodges. My use of the word embo-
lism in my report was incorrect ; it should have been thrombosis.
Lawrence Doyle died of clotting of the blood in the aorta, an
artery which leads from the heart, and also in the pulmonary
artery. Doyle had been for a long time under punishment in the
lazy cells. I attributed the cause of the disease to long continued
incarceration In illy-ventilated cells, and low diet.

Q. Where do you say his confinement was ?
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A. In the lazy cells. The lazy cells are a row of cells in the
upper attic of the western wing, in the western end of the build-
ing. They are poorly ventilated.

Q. Is there anything for the prisoners to sleep on there ?

A. Bometimes bedding is provided for them by way of a straw
sack. :

Q. What is the situation of these cells as to purity of air?

A. 1 think they are so much elevated above the lower part of
the prison that all the exhalations from below would rise up there.
There is nothing to hinder all the impurities below from rising up
there.

Q. Did you at that time attribute the death of Doyle to that
cause ?

A. In conversation with Mr. Wilson and Mr. Rice in the
office I told them that I thought he would not have died had it
not been for it.

Q. Do you know any other cases ?

A. I mentioned the case of Charles Thompson in my last
report. He had been in the dungeon and his feet had been
chilled previous to that.

Q. 'What is the nature of the dungeon ? Describe it.

A. The dungeon is on a level with the ground floor of the
prison. There is no light in it when the outer door is closed, and
there is no ventilation.

Is there any bedding in there?

I never saw any.

What was it as to temperature ?

In the winter it must be cold.

You have stated about this man suffering from chilled feet,
was it cold enough to cause them to suffer in this way if they had
ghoes on ?

A. 1 donotknow; I never staid in there. I know they came
out with chilled feet. A foot may be chilled so as to affect the
periosteum of the bone without destroying the soft parts.

Q' In regard to the regulations of the prison, did you ever,
while you was an officer of the prison, have a copy of the rules of
the prison? :

A. Never.

Q. Did you ever know of any code of regulations for a guide
to the officers ?

A. No, sir.

OErOFO
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Q. Did you keep a record of the cases you treated while you
was surgeon !

A. No full record.

Q. Do you know whether you predecessors did ?

A. I never knew that my predecessors did.

Q. How many years was it before you commenced ?

A. I was appointed August 4, 1863, and the first record that I
made was on the 25th of July, 1869—no, I will make a correction,
it was March 13th, 1866.

Q. Where was the record left ?

A. In the apothecary room.

Q. Did you leave it there open?

A. Yes, it was always there. It has been written in by other
hands than mine which shows that it was accessible to others,.

Q. What were the circumstances which led to the commence-
ment of a full record afterwards ?

A. Tcommenced to keep a full record in April, 1873, because
of a controversy between the inspectors and myself. I discovered
that there had been adopted a system of espionage, and finding
out'the men I had to deal with, I kept a full record. I have not
that record. I have a note from Warden Rice in which he admits
that he has it.

Q. Have you his letter?

A. Ibave. (Letter produced.)

Q. It seems that he refers in this letter to a book which you
‘took away.

A. Yes, this is it. This book cost 50 cents and the prison
paid for it, but the book he hasI paid for. [Letter marked “C.”’]

Q. I understood you to say that you notified the deputy
warden and also the warden that you probibited prisoners from
being put into the dungeon while it was freezing weather ?

A. Yes, I spoke to the deputy about it and notified the
warden. The warden suggested that the dungeon might be
warmed by leaving the door open during the day time.

Q. What was the reply of the deputy when you mentioned it
to him ? '

A. T do not recollect the reply he made.

Questions by Mr. Morrow.

Q. TFor what purpose are these lazy cells used?
Tlnae
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Q. Have you ever visited prisoners while in those cells?

A. T have.

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge of prisoners ever
suffering for water or food while in those cells ?

A. No, sir.

Questions by Mr. Knowlton.

Q. About this matter of ventilation; is there not ventilation
in the roof of the prison?

A. Yes, but a cell is built up like a box, and you cannot ven-
tilate it without a current of air, any more than you could a jug
without taking the stopper out. There is an opening in the other
cells leading into the air-chamber or walls.

Question by Mr. Russell.
Q. Are there cells underneath the lazy cells ?
A. The hospital iy underneath, but it has an air-tight flooring.
[Examination of Dr. Chase is suspended.)

Enenezer Otis, sworn and testified as follows:
Inlerrogatories by Mr. Talbot, omitled.

I addressed a letter to the State Treasurer, asking for the
statistics which are borne upon this paper (in his hand) and
received in answer thereto this paper, unaccompanied with any
other communication. It was in a yellow envelope, was post-
marked Augusta, and was received in answer to the one I wrote
to the State Treasurer. I think T know the hand-writing, I
thought then, and do now, that it is in the handwriting of Mr.
Caldwell. (The paper referred to in Dr. Chase’s testimony marked
“A.””) I sent the paper to Dr. Chase.

In answer lo tnlerrogatories by Mr. Knowlion.

I forwarded the paper to the Doctor at his request, last year; I
do not know what month. The legislature was in session, but I
could not say what time it was. The interview in which he
requested me to forward it was in my own house.

Examination of Dr. Crarres T. CHASE, Tesumed.
Mr. Talbot inlerrogaling.

Q. Does the air from where the prisoners are confined ascend
to where the lazy cells are ?
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A. Yes, from all the cells in the western wing; I could not
tell how many.

Mr. Knowllon, interrogaling.

Is there no opening in these cells either at the top or bottom ?
There are grated doors.

Is there not ventilation directly over the lazy oells ?

It is my impression that it is closed up above the corridor
ront of these cells, and does not go up into the attic.

Is there not some ventilation from the cells below ?

There is some ventilation from below up through the prison.
And there are ventilators in the top of the prison ?

Yes.

And in both sides ?

Undoubtedly; but it is my impression that there is no
ventilation from the lazy cells.

Q. Then itis not certain that all the exhalations from these
several rows of cells pass up the stairway to the lazy cells?
~A. Even if there were no ventilators all the exhalations would
not pass up, but there is a great difference in the atmosphere in
the morning and evening too, from that below even where there
is direct ventilation.

Q. Do you identify that (book produced) as the book you once
had'in your possession ?

A. Yes.

Q. Those are entries made by you?

A. (Examining the book) I notice that I made a mistake in the
caption in one place. A portion of that was copied from that.
The last record I made was August 14th. I see nothing in it but
what I wrote myself.

Q. Please examine that (printed slip) and see if it is one of
the articles you furnished.

A. I wrote that. It was written about the 12th of November,
1873.

Q. There is a statement there in regard to an article printed in
a distant State, which you say was evidently written to counter-
act the statement, -—have you any information that led you to that
belief ?

A. 1 said evidenily ; T used the term in its true sense, I have
no knowledge as to where it was written. I only judge from the
appearance of it ?

?@?’e@?’@“’?@?’@
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Q. Now let me call your attention to this; (another article)
did you write that?

A. I wrote that article. (Date July 30th, 1873.)

Q. Now here are some items given here. Where were those
figures obtained ?

A. From the office of the treagurer by that paper I presented
here, with the exception of the salary of chaplain, from 1864 to
1870, inclusive, including both years. The salaries are all put in
except the salary of the chaplain. The pay of the inspectors is
included in the other paper—the Kennedy paper.

What was the pay in 18657

$200.

What wag it in 18677

$400.

in 18687

$400.

In 18717

$400.

1872,

$400.

In 1873.

$400.

Then this statement here is not true, within your own
knowledge, that the figures were obtained from the Treasurer of
the State ? ‘

A. Does it say 80 in that paper?

Q. You simply mean that they were obtained in the manuer
already stated by those two papers which were furnished by you?

A. No, sir. Those were furnished fo me.

Q. When those papers were obtained you have no knowledge ?

A. T bave no knowledge, I have a belief. I did not write that
article under oath. I am under oath now.

Q. I perceive the difference. There is a statement here with
regard to the compensation of the Warden of the.State Prison,
and among other things is enumerated the fuel; have you any
knowledge as to whether the warden gets his wood from the
State ? :

A. Only from the revised statutes. ft is legitimately his if
the law gives it to him. I considered it safe to go by the statute.

Q. Did you find the statement made upon anything except the
statute ?

Prororororore
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A. No, sir. I should not be likely to look further.

Q. From what did you derive the information that the warden
of the Ohio State Prison received a salary of $2,500 for 18717

A. From a friend who resides in the State.

Q. Where did you obtain the information upon which you
make the statement that the revenue from the State Prison was
$4,000 a year?

A. From Dr. Warren’s report, the inspector of State Prisons,

Q. Have you examined the report of Ohio for the year 1871 ?

A. No, the revenue I took from Dr. Warren’s report.

Q. You say these entries were made by yourself; state whether
you made the visits at the time fixed to these several items ?

A. T presume I did. With regard to day and date, I some-
times have occasion to correct a date, but where the hour is put
down, for instance this entry : ‘11th of June, 3 P. M.”” was made
at the prison.

Q. Are the same entries in this book ?

A. No, sir; the entries I am now reading are not in that book.
There is the ‘“8th of July, 3 P. M.”

Q. What part of that book was copied from this one ?

A. TIcannot say. I kept this book at my house sometime
before I carried it to the prison and carried home slips of paper in
my pocket. I kept it there all through the time where it is writ-
ten out in ink. I carried it to the prison April 26th, judging from
this entry : “April 26, no one lying in,” which indicates that I
went to the prison.

Q. These articles were all written at your own motion without
the suggestion of anybody ?

A. I do not generally write at others’ suggestion.

Q. Others might wish to avail themselves of your skill ?

A. I know of no one who wishes to avail himself of my skill in
such matters.

Q. The items of payment to the chaplain are not in these
papers. Where did you obtain those?

A. 1 have always understood that where the clergymen of
Thomaston performed the duties, that the pay which was given to
the chaplain was divided between them, and in this paper it is put
down at $350, and sup'posing the fact to be as stated, I carried it .
right along.

Q. Then it was not from information but reference ?

4
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Mr. Talbot. I want to ask Mr. Rice if he has the letter in
which the demand is made for this book ?

Mr. Rice. I am not certain whether I have it or not.

Mr. Talbot. If Mr. Rice cannot find the original, I want to ask
the witness to put in a copy of it.

Mr. Rice. T have no objection to his putting in a copy. (Let-
ter put in; date Thomaston, August 18, 1873 ; also the one from
Mr. Rice, date August 16, to which this was a reply. Subject of
the letters, ‘“removal of the witness from the office of Physician
to State Prison).”

Mr. Talbot moved that the Committee now proceed to examine
warden Rice.

Mr. Knowlton stated that Mr. Rice’s position was of the nature
of one defending himself against charges and accusations brought
against him, and was not called upon to say anything until a case
is made against him,

Mr. Talbot took the ground that the warden, as an officer of the
State, should be ready at any time to give information to a com-
mission ordered by the State to investigate the affairs pertaining
to his office. ‘

Mr. Talbot’s motion not sustained by a vote of the Committee,

Cuartes G. Cmase sworn and testified, first in answer to inter-
rogatories by Mr. Talbot, as follows :

Reside in Thomaston. Am an officer in the State Prison. Am
in the boot and shoe department. Am overseer of the shoe shop.
Have been in that office since July, 1866, with the exception of a
few months that I was away.

Q. Have you any other overseer there with you?

A. T have at present.

Q. What is his name?

A. Thomas F. Phinney. He has been there about six weeks.
He is simply in my place when I am away. '
How many convicts have you under your charge?

I have 17 now.

Do you keep an account of the labor of all the convicts there ?
I do not.

Do you fix the price per day of the convicts there ?

I do not.

. How is it as to the different skill of convicts under your
charge? Whether some are well skilled and some just learning ?

ProFope
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A. We have some who have been there some time and are well
skilled, and we have quite a number of green hands.

Q. Do you know of any who keeps an account of their time ?

A. Tdo not.

Q. You say you have been there since 1866, have you assisted
in taking account of stock?

A. T have.

Q. What part did you perform ?

A. T usually put the stock together and made a schedule of it,
and when asked have made statements about prices.

Q. Do you know whether the inspectors took your statement
of prices ?

A. Tdo not know.

Q. Have they frequently asked you, when they were taking
account of stock, the price of things ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you occupy a house owned by the State ?

A. Yes, sir. It is a two story house, near by the prison
gate.
Do you pay rent for it?
Yes, sir; I pay $65 a year.
How long have you paid rent ?
Ever since I occupied it, two years and seven months.
How have you paid it?
It has always been deducted from my annual pay. When
I settled for my quarter’s salary, the rent has been deducted.

Q. How much salary did you receive last year?

A. 1 cannot say, for I have lost some time.

Q. Have you no means of knowing what your pay is? What
is your fixed salary ?

A. A thousand dollars a year.

Q. How much time did you lose last year?

A. 1 should judge about four or five weeks; but I cannot say
as to that.

Q. What was your salary in 18727

A. It was the same—$1000.

Q. Did you lose any time that year?

A. T do not think I did.

Q. And you received $1000, deducting the amount of your
house rent?

A, Yes, sir.

POoPOPRPO
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Q. How was itin 18717

A. Tt was but a part of the year that I was there. I left the
prison Nov. 5th, 1870, and returned June 5th, 1871. From that
time I have had the same salary. I did not occupy the house
during the time I was away from the prison.

Q. How was it in 1870 and the year before that ?

A. Part of the year I was away.

Q. Was you an officer that year at all ?

A. 1think I was. I had $800 for 1870.

Q. How much time were you absent?

A. I could not say.

Q. Have you all the time you have been overseer there, occu-

pied the same house ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Have you occupied a building belonging to the State all
_the time ?

A. No, sir; I have occupied this building since I returned in
June, 1871.

Q. Then from all the salary paid you previous to 1871, there
has been no rent deducted ? ‘

A. The house that I occupied before was a house belonging to
the State but not the same house. T paid $55 rent for that.

Q. How long did you occupy the house for which you paid
$55 annually ?

A. 1 think three years nearly. After leaving that house I
moved away. Moved away November 5th, 1870.

Q. How long before that had you occupied that house and
paid for it $557

A. T think nearly three years.

Q. And since that you have occupied the house for which you
paid $657

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know how many houses belonging to the State are
occupied by persons employed in and about the prison ?

A. I could not tell.

Q. Do you know how many houses there are belonging to the
State ?

A. I think there are five, and some of them are capable of
accommodating more than one family.

Q.  Have you assisted in taking account of stock every year
you have been there ?



INVESTIGATION OF AFFAIRS. 53

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What time has it been taken ?

A. It has usually been taken the last of November or first of
December. ]

Q. Do you know anything about the rent of any of these tene-
ments except your own ?

A. T do not.

Q. State whether there was in that shoe shop when the account
of stock was taken, a lot of old fashioned lasts; quite a number
of them ?

A. Yes, sir, there was. ) ~

Q. Those lasts had not been used for several years, had they?

A. No, sir.

Q. Were they appraised ?

A. T think so.

Q. Were they of any value except for fire wood ?

A. T do not think they were appraised for that. I think that
old lot has been appraised for wood every year since I have been
there.

Q. Do you know of any account being kept of the labor of the
convicts ?

A. TIdo not.

Q. In relation to custom work; is there much of that done
there ?

A. Yes, we do considerable custom work, the same as any
custom shoe shop.

Q. Have you had any work from abroad ? Have any of these
Boston runners been in the habit of sending their measures to you
to have work done ?

A. Yes.
Q. Do you keep an account of that?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you a book in which you keep the account ?

A. Yes; itis kept in my shop subject to examination by the
clerk.

Q. How do your prices range with the prices for the same
work done outside ?

A. I do not know.

Q. But you set the prices—are there not men in Thomaston
who have work done at your shop rather than have it done outside ?

A T e
A, Le€s, 8IT.



54 MAINE STATE PRISON.

Q. Have they not stated that it was done much cheaper than
they could get it done outside ?

A. Yes.

Q. And have you not stated so yourself, and that it was wrong
to do the work cheaper there than it could be done for outside ?

A. I think I have.

Questions by Mr. Knowlion.

Q. Do you know the prices for the same kind of work done
outside ?

A. No, sir; I could not swear to any prices.

Q. Then you are unable to tell whether you do the work less
or not? ‘

A. Ithink we do as a general thing. .

Q. Do you think that for this work that you do for persons
outside in Thomaston and elsewhere, you charge a fair price,
having regard to the stock and the work ?

A. Ido. .

Q. Aside from this work that you do in the way you have
spoken of, do you manufacture and sell boots by the case ?

A. We do.

Q. Don’t you get as much for this work as i3 paid for those
manufactured outside ?

A. We do on the case-work.

Q. Have you, in all cases, rendered a strict account to the

Clerk for all work done ?
A T }\Q‘Yﬂ
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Q. To whom are the payments made? When a pair of boots
are delivered, who receives the money for them ?

A. If they are paid for at the time, 1 receive it myself and
enter it upon the books.

Q. And that book shows all the transactions so far as the sales
are concerned ? '

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were there any lasts appraised, besides those for wood ?
A. There were.

Q. Were you at the prison on the night of the fire ?

A. T was.

Q. Do you know what efforts were made to extinguish it ?

A

. Well, sir, being one of the fire department, I know that we
did all that we could. '
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Q. Were the engines there under the directions of any one as

foreman ?

A. Yes, both companies.

Q. Have you ever had charge of either of the machines ?

A. Thave.

Q. Were you present to see the machines worked that night?

A. Iwas.

Q. Were they worked advantageously ?

A. Yes, until we had a bother with one of them.

Q. So far as you saw was everything done that could be done
to save the building ?

A. Tt was.

Q. Do you know anything about the origin of the fire ?

A. Ido not.

Q. Was that the shop in which you was at work ?

A. It was not.

Q. What progress had the fire made when you first knew it ?

A. The fire was in the place described by Mr. Kelloch, in the

west corner. I arrived there in a few minutes after the bell
struck. There were but a few there when I got there. The fire
spread rapidly inside.

“Q.

How long before the building was so much on fire that no

one could enter it with safety ?

the
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I should judge within twenty-five minutes or half an hour.

Was there any wind at the time ?

Yes, considerable.

Was it blowing upon the corner where the fire originated ?

Yes, sir.

Did you render any assistance yourself, or aid in getting
engine ?

1 did.

Was it done as quick as could be done ?

Yes, sir.

Who was foreman at that time ?

Mr. Maxey.

Had you been an officer before ?

I had.

Why did you resign as foreman?

Owing to a trouble in my head, which was on account of

going to Waldoboro’, 4th of July, where I received a pa.rtlal sun-

stroke.

I resigned at Dr. Chase’s suggestions.
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Q. If you had been foreman at the time would you have lo-
cated the engine where it was?

A. 1 should not.

Q. Where was it located ?

A. At the east end of the main prison, at the large reservoir.

Q. Where should it have been located ?

A. T think it should have been located outside by the stable,
where there was a large reservoir.

Q. Do you know whether any instruction or direction had
been given by any one, as to where the engine should be placed,
in case of fire inside ?

A. Ido. ,

Q. Who gave the direction?

A. I was advised by warden Rice that in case of an attack of
fire in the prison, the engine should be stationed at the stable’
outside, first. :

Q. Did he give any direction as to where to place the hand
engine? :

A. Yes, sir; inside.

Q. And where was the hand engine ?

A. Inside. :

Q. Were there more than two engines inside ? -

A. There were. '

Q. Were the reservoirs drained inside by having all the ma-
chines in there?

A. 1 think some of the reservoirs failed.

Q. There was an abundance of water at the stable outside ?

A. Yes.

Q. Now about this house that you occupy—do you occupy the
whole of it ? ,

A. Idonot; Ihave the lower part of it.

Q. Is that a reasonable rent, considering other rents about
there ?

A. I think so.

Q. Now, while you have been connected with the prison have
you had an opportunity to see what the treatment was of ‘the con-
victs in the various shops about the prison?

A. T'have in my own shop.

Q. What has it been by Mr. Rice and all the subordinate offi-
cers, in regard to punishment, &c: ?

A. I think the treatment has always been good.
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Q. Do you know of any cruelty or abuses to the convicts ?

A. Ido not know what abuse is myself; I have never seen
any one abused there.

Q. Are there any established rules and regulations for the
officers about the prison ?

A. There are.
Q. Have you seen them ?
A. 1 have.

Q. Do you know whether rules and regulations are kept about
the office and furnished to the officers of the prison ?

A. T don’t know where they are kept. I know they are
frequently given to the officers.

Q. Now, what is the impression there generally as to Mr.
Rice, as to whether he is cruel or lenient in his treatment to
prisoners ?

A. The only fault I ever found with Mr. Rice was that he was
too lenient.

Q. Are the shops and buildings about there kept orderly and
neat, and in good condition so far as you have seen?

A. 1 think so. '

Questions by Mr. Shaw. -

Q. Were you instructed by Mr. Rice or anybody else, in fixing
prices on work to cut under other manufacturers or to set a price
below a fair market price ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Was Mr. Kelloch in the prison recently to get some work
done or for some business purpose ?

A. Yes, he was.

Q. Was anything said at that time in regard to the manage-
ment of the prison ?

A. Yes, Mr. Kelloch and I had considerable conversation that
day in regard to the management of the prison. I ecould not
swear to all that was said. The inference that I drew from his
conversation was favorable to the management; that he knew
nothing against the prison management.

Mr. Talbot again interrogating.

Q. Who occupies the other part of the house where you live ?
A. Mr. Piper; Iin the lower part and he in the upper.
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Q. For custom work you receive the pay when it is paid for;
do you charge the work and fix the price when it is charged ?

A. 1do.

Q. Now state as near as you can the amount of custom-work
aside from the case-work ?

A. T could not say.

Q. Well, estimate it; approximate to it or make a guess.

A. TIshould judge that we made nearly 50 dozen pairs of calf
boots in a year—custom made.

Q. That does not include any repairing ?

A. No, sir.

Q. About how many shoes ?

A. 1 should think nearly as many. I don’t know as we make
as many shoes as that.

Questions by Mr. Morrow.

Q. On the night of the fire do you know whether those reser-
voirs were filled with water ?

A. I do not know whether they were filled at that time.

Q.. You spoke about having some difficulty with one of the
engines ; who was foreman of that engine ?

A. Mr. Maxey. -

Q. What was the trouble with the engine ?

A. I do not know what the trouble was; I was not close to
the engine.

Q. Was it his business to see that the engine was in good con-
dition ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And was it in such a condition that it did not play on to
the fire ?

A. For a short time only.

Q. In your judgment was all got out of that building that
could be got out ?

A. Yes; all that could be taken out with safety.

Q. In your branch of the business, where you manufacture
custom work, do you consider that it pays as much to the State
a8 to manufacture case work, taking into consideration all the
trouble in looking after it ?

A. T think it pays better, the class of work we do.

- Q. Have you ever consulted with warden Rice in relation to
fixing a price on custom work ?
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A. We have talked it over; he has generally left it to me. I
think he has wanted me to come up higher on some of their cus-
tom work.

Mr, Talbot: Was it the engine that got out of order that stood
near the east end of the prison, by the small reservoir ?

A. Yes, that was the steamer.

Mr. Knowlton: What do you sell your boots for by the
case

A. From $45 to $48.

Q. What do you sell your custom boots for ?

A. Pegged boots all the way from $5 to $6.50, and sewed
boots from $8 to $10.

Mr. Morrow again tnlerrogating.

Q. Have you an assistant in the shop with you?

A. Thave, while I am away.

Q. Do you find it difficult to attend to the management of the
convicts in your shop, and also to give your attention to the cus-
tom department of the shop ?

A. Ifind enough to do. I think if T had not as many men to
look after I could do better by them.

Q. I understood you to say that the custom work had increased
since you have been there ?

A. Yes.

Q. Ifit keeps on increasing as it has for the last year can you
alone manage the convicts and also give your attention to the
custom department ? A A

A. No; I think I ought to give more attention to each man.

Q. And you have been obliged to call in assistance ?

A. Ouly to relieve me for a short time.

Q. If that branch of the business increases will it be necessary
to have an assistant ?

A. 1 think it would be for the interest of the State to have one.

Mr. Knowlton: That would depend entirely upon the number
of men in your department ?

A. I suppose so.

Mr. Morrow : What number of men have you now ?

A. Seventeen.

Q. Has it been less than that since you have been there ?

A. Tt has been down as low as fifteen.

Q. How many have you had ?
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A. At one time I had thirty-eight. -

Mr. Knowlton: Has Mr. Rice, at any time before going away,
given directions how to manage in case of fire?

A. He has, frequently.

Q. Any directions as to having the fire department and engines

in order?

A. He has. )

Q. How about the engine at the prison? In what state of
preparation is it kept ? '

A. She is in order, with the fuel all prepared, ready to touch
off all the time.

Q. How long was the engine, the steamer, in use after the fire
commenced ?

A. BShe was running, constantly, about two days.

Q. Where was the water taken from ?

A. From the bottom of the quarry in the yard.

Q. Through how many feet of hose ?

A. A part of the time through 800 feet. She worked all the
time.

Questions by Mr. Talbot. -
Q. Were there any particular directions given about the time
of this fire?
A. None that I know of.
Q. You say that directions were given to place the engine at

the reservoir at the stable in case of fire, was it so located that
might ?

A. No, sir?
Q. Was there not plenty of water within the limits of the
prison yard that night ?

A. Yes.

Q. And you used water afterwards within the limits of the
yard ?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you hear Mr. Rice say anything about the position of
the engine afterwards?

A. Yes; he wondered to me why I dld not put it in the right
place, thinking that I was foreman at the time.

Q. Have you heard him say since why he did not order the
engineer differently ?

A. No, sir.
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Q. Do you know that the engine was in order when the fire
broke out ?

A. 1 do not. She stopped soon after they began. I cannot
swear that she was in order when they began.

Questions by Mr. Knowlton.

Q: Have you any information as to what the trouble was why
she did not work well ?

A. Thave not. I was not close to it, and not being foreman
at the time did not consider it my duty to ascertain.

Mr. Talbot. Did not Mr. Rice know that you had resigned ?

A. I think not.

Mr. Knowlton. Did the machine work well when it was first
started ? '

A. I think it did, and was disabled aftewards.

Q. Whose business is it to see that the engine is kept in order
to work, the warden’s or the engineer’s ?

A. The engineer’s.

Mr. Shaw. When the warden spoke to you about the misplace-
ment of the engine; what may I understand by that?

A. That the engine was not placed where it would work to
the best advantage.

At this point a motion was again made to proceed with the
examination of Mr. Rice, the warden, which motion was not
sustained by a vote of the Committee.

Cyrus Maxey, sworn, and in answer to interrogatories by Mr.
Talbot, testified as follows :

I reside in Thomaston. Have been deputy warden of the State
Prison ; was deputy warden from August 1, 1863, I think, till
- May, 18617.

Are you in the employ of the prison now?

Yes.

In what capacity ? .

Carpenter ; am employed in repairing the buildings, &c.
How long have you been empluyed in that capacity ?
From two years ago last May up to the present time.
{What salary do you now have for your services?

$700.

Do you occupy any of the buildings belonging to the State ?
No, sir.

FPOPLOPOPORFEO
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What salary did you have while you were deputy warden ?
At first T had $600.
For how long?
I am not able to say, definitely ; I think it was raised to
seven or eight hundred.

Q. You was deputy warden in 1864 7

A. Yes.

Q. What salary did you have then?

A. I am unable to say.

Q. Did you at that time, or at any time, occupy any building
belonging to the State ?
No, sir.
‘What did you have at the last of your being deputy warden ?
$800.
Do you know when that commenced ?
I could not say, precisely.
Did you at that time, or any time, also discharge the duties
of commissary ?

A. Yes; I had some assistance; I do not know what portion
of the time.

Q. Was that while you was deputy warden ?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you, all the time while you were deputy warden, also
discharge the duties of commissary ?

A. Well], I had an assistant in the yard.

Q. State to the Committee what the duties of the Commissary
arc?

A. Well, as I understand it, it is to look after the clothing and
victualing,—supplying food and clothing to the prisoners.

Q. How long did you discharge this duty ?

A. It was under my supervision all the time I was there.

Q. Did you have a separate salary for that?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you, all the time up to 1867, discharge the duties of
commissary as well as deputy warden ?

‘A. There was a man who assisted me. It was my duty to
look after it.
Who was that assistant ?
James Henry Piper.
Do you know what pay he had for his services?
I do not.

oo
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You have had charge of the men at work repairing the

buildings belonging to the State ?

A.
Q.

Yes, sir.
Do you know how many buildings belonging to the State

there are outside of the prison ?

th

P erorer
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I think there are nine.

Do you speak of separate houses or separate tenements ?
Separate tenements. '

Do you know about what they rent for?

I do not.

Did you, in having charge of the labor by the convicts, fix

price of their labor ?

No, sir.

Did you keep any account of their time ?

No, sir.

What portion of the work was done by the convicts under

That is a pretty hard question for me to answer. I have

had one man at work with me all the time, and if there was any
little job to do on the buildings we have done it. I keep the
buildings in repair and do such work as that about the prison.

Q. Have you had more than one man?

A. Yes; on the wall.

Q. How many did you have there?

A. I cannoisay. I kept their time.

Q. Did you keep the value of their labor also ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did you carry out any price ?

A. No, sir.

Q. What was the object of keeping the time ?

A. I was told to do so by the warden.

Q. You kept the time, so many days’ work, on the wall, when
was that?

A. That was this last year.

Q. Did you have some men that were worth more than others ?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you had charge of all the repairing done to the prop-
erty owned by the State since you have been there?

A. No, sir.

Q. Who else had charge besides yourself ?
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A. A part of the summer that I went there, three years ago,
there was a gentleman by the name of Little.

Q. T ask who hashad charge within the past two or three years ?

A. That was within two or three years. It was when I first
went there. Mr. Marden has had charge a short time. Beniah
Marden. IHe was not under me.

Q. When was this ?

A. Three years ago, I think.

Q. Do you know what was paid him ?

A. No, sir. k

Q. While you were in the office of deputy warden you had
occasion sometimes to visit what is called the dungeon ?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that dungeon furnished with any furniture of any kind ?

A. No, sir. ’

Q. Any beds?

A. No, sir.
Q. Any straw?
A. No, sir.

Q. You was deputy warden in 1865; do you kngw of Dr.
Chase being absent from Thomaston for a while during 18657

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know of some other physician being employed there
while you was deputy warden?

A. Yes, I have known of others being called.” Dr. Baker was
called once, to my knowledge, though I am not certain about the

year,

Q. When Dr. Chase was absent from Thomaston who was
called to take his place?

A. 1 do not recollect.

Q. Do you know of Dr. Levenseller being called there during
that time ?

A. Tamnot sure. I think Dr. Ludwick was called at one
time, but it was so long ago I am not able to state very accurately
about it. '

Q. Have you had the repairing on the stables connected with
the prison to do?

A. Yes, what there has been done on them.

Q. Was Albert Peters an inmate of the prison while you were
there ?

A, Yes.
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Q. Do you know whether he had ever been punished by put-

ting him into the dungeon?

Yes.

How much of the time did he remain there?

Could not say.

Did you keep a record yourself?

No, sir; I made out daily reports and gave them to the
clerk every day. I kept it on a regular blank, which I filled out
and gave to the clerk ; kept no book of my own.

Q. Do you know what year it was that he (Peters) died ?

A. No, sir, I don’t recollect.

Q. Do you know that it was during the year that you was warden ?

A. Yes.

Q. You say you were deputy warden up to 1867, now was it
in the early or latter part of the time you held that office ?

A. I should not want to say positively ; I think he might have
been in up to the time he died—two years.

Q. How much of the time, according to your best recollectlon
did he spend in confinement in the dungeon ?

A. He was in occasionally.

Q. How long on any oceasion there ?

A. From twenty-four hours—if it was warm weather he staid
in longer, and if cold not so long—from 24 to 36 hours.

Q. Is there anything in the dungeon to sleep on but the bare
stones ?

A. Nothing to my knowledge.

Q. How long during cold weather was he kept there at any
one time ?

A. Perhaps twelve hours.

Mr. Knowlton. There is a report of this?

A. Yes, there is a daily report handed in every morning to the
clerk.

Mcr. Knowlton Then I move that this be shown by the record ?

Mr. Talbot. Did you ever suggest to the warden to try some
other mode of punishment upon Albert Peters?

A. I do not have any recollection of it.

Q. Did you ever suggest to him that you thought the punish-
ment was too much for his constitution or that some other punish-
ment would do just as well ?

A. No, sir.

5
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Q. Have you ever stated to anybody that you did ?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Did not you suggest to him something in regard to that
punishment during freezing weather ?

A. No,sir. - '

Q. Do you think his health was any affected by being confined
there during the cold weather?

A. Inever did; I can explain. I know he was not well after-
wards. Ie hid away under the shop to escape. It was cold
weather. He crawled away under the floor and I have the im-
pression that he was there on the cold ground some twenty-four
hours and got a violent cold and was never well afterwards.

Q. Was he not punished for that attempt to escape ?

A. I think very likely he had a ball and chain put on him.

Q. Was he not put in the dungeon after that?

A. T think not.

Q. How many times was he put into the dungeon before he
crawled away under the shop ?

~ A. I am unable to say.

Q. Can you say that he was not put in afterwards ? |

A. No, sir, I cannot say, because 1 don’t recollect. If he was,
the reports that I made will show it.

Q. Did the physician ever express his disapproval of this pun-
ishment in the dungeon during freezing weather ?

A. I don’t know but he has. I have heard it spoken of by
others.

Q. Who was that physician ?

I do not know. Could not say.

Who was the physician during your administration ?

Dr. Baker and Dr. Chase.

Did Mr. Rice ever apply to you for a copy of the rules and
latlons of the prison ?

Yes.

Q. When was that?

A. Some time during the last summer of 1873,

Q. Do you recollect what he said when he came after that
copy ?

A. He said he had one that was mislaid, and he asked me if I
had one. I looked and found one and gave it to him.

Q. Did you know of any other a.bout the prison ?

A. No, sir.

rS oo
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Q. How long before that had you seen any copy of the rules
and regulations ?

A. T cannot positively swear that I have seen any other than
the one that I had.

Q. When was this copy made up ?

A. I think Richard Tinker was in that copy.

Q. Do you know of any rules being furnished to the prison
since Mr. Rice came in warden ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Was your attention ever called, during your administration,
to any rules for your direction as an officer ?

A. I do not recollect.

Q. Whom did you get this copy from?

A. T think I got it as long ago as when Mr, Hicks was warden.

Q. Did you ever speak to the surgeon of the prison about the
punishment of the prisoners ?

A. T do not recollect that I ever did.

Q. Do you know of Henry Marden being employed about the
prison ? :

A. Yes.

Q. For how long a time ?

A. TIcould not say. He came there perhapsin 1864, but don’t
say positively about that.

Q. And has been there up to the present time ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What has been his business there ?

A. He has acted as salesman, as I understand it, to sell car-
riages.

Q. Do you know of his ever receiving a present of a carriage
and harness made there at the prison ?

A. No, sir.

Mr. Knowlton: Were you acquainted with the treatment
of the prisoners ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Have you ever known of any treatment other than what
was humane and kind ?

A. 1 should not call it any other.

Q. Have you known any other than that which was in accord-
ance with the prescribed rules ?

A. No, sir.
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Q. And the prisoners were properly treated by all the sub-
ordinates?

A. Yes, it was intended that they should be.

Q. Where is that dungeon ?

A. The one that was there when I was there is torn away. It
was one of the old cells.

Q. Where is the one used now?

A. I never was in it.

Q. Now, being acquainted with the dungeon, is the one used
ag the present time in as warm place as the one used formerly ?

A. Am not able to say, because I do not know where this is.
It is pretty hard for me to tell because T have never been in there.

Q. You have been by it?

A. I have been into the prison.

Q. Is it within the outer wall of the prison?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know of any person, yourself or anybody else ever
having property from that prison without paying for it ?

A. No, sir. ‘

Q. Are the repairs about the prison and the buildings about
there in your judgment made judiciously ?

A. Thave never seen anything to the contrary.

Q. And the money and labor well expended ? -

A. Yes.

Q. While these repairs are going on, is the warden frequently
consulted as to the best way of making them ?

A. Yes.

Q. He has manifested an interest in the business ?

A. Yes. '

Q. Has there been any severity practiced either by imposing
extra labor or by imprisonment ?
No, sir, not to my knowledge.
Was you present at the time of the fire ?
Yes, I was.
Did you have charge of either of the machines ?
Yes, sir, I did.
Were you foreman ?
The foreman that was regularly elected was not there, and
I, being second foreman acted. I had charge of the machine that
night. I worked the machine the best I could.

FOPOPOP
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Q. Did you see any want of care on the part of Mr. Rice or
any of the officers about the prison to save the property there?

A. No, sir.

Q. Wag everything done by all about the prison so far as
could be done to put the fire out?

A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Before Mr. Rice was appointed warden, was there any
salesman there ?

A. Yes; his name was Gates. I think he remained a spell
after Mr. Rice came there.

Q. Now, are there rules and regulations for the conduct of the
prison?

A. There are.

Q. Are they observed about the labor and everything about
the prison yard ?

A. Tknow nothing to the contrary.

Questions omilted.

I am not an officer at this time. I do not know whether Mr.
Marden is salesman now. If I am to answer as I suppose, I sup-
pose heis. I donot know what time the Rockland engine reached
there the night of the fire. The building was pretty much burned
down when it arrived. It was under control.

Mr. Shaw. Have you ever been an officer in any other prison?

A. No, sir, I have not.

Mr. Knowlton, tnterrogating.

Q. Whose duty is it to instruct a new officer when he goes
into prison employ ?

A. The deputy warden. That duty devolved upon me. I do
not think the rules were ever followed right up. I never knew
them to be in every particular.

Mr. Talbot. What engine did you have charge of at the time
of the fire ?

A. The steamer.

Q. Where was that engine when the alarm of fire was given?

A. T presume in the engine house. 1 found her in the street
when I got down there.

Q. Do you know what order that engine was in, in the street
when you first saw it ?

A. No, sir.
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What did you next do after you met it there in the street ?
Hauled it into the yard.

Where did you place it ?

At the cistern of water at the east end of the prison.

Had you received any orders where to place it in case of

g
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No, sir.

That was left wholly to your discretion ?

Yes, sir.

Did any one remonstrate with you for putting it where you
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A. No, sir. She played on the fire till the water was about
out of the cistern, and then stopped working altogether and we
could not do aunything with her. I presume she worked three-
fourths of an hour before she stopped.

Q. Didyou then find out what ailed her?

A. No, sir; do not know to this day what the matter was.
We had occasion to stop her to shift the hose to another place,
and she did not start again. The water in the cistern was very
low then. All the water that we could draw with the hose was
out. The engine worked after we got her outside without any
repairing. She afterwards worked well and threw through 800
feet of hose.

Q. Now, do you know whether there was anything done to
her before she threw water again ?

A. No, sir, I do not.

Q. Was there any waier in the prison yard, in the hole where
the lime rock had been taken out?

A. Yes.

Q. How far was that from the building on fire ?

A. About 150 feet.

Q. What hindered you from placing the engine there?

A. She could be placed there, but the fire had got so hot we
could not pass.

Q. Which end of the building did the fire commence ?

A. In the western end and run towards the east. Our steamer
was placed at the quarry next day and played upon what was left
of the building. She drew water from this place all day. Did
not use the water all up.

Mr. Shaw: Are you an engineer?
A. No, sir.
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Q. Do you pretend to understand engines ?

A. No, sir, I do not.

Mr. Knowlton: Was the man whom you spoke of hiding under
the shop well before he hid under there ?

A. Yes, so far as my knowledge goes.

Q. Has that machine been tried since the fire to see whether
it would work or not?

A. Yes, sir.

EuBripcE Burtron sworn and examined, first by Mr. Talbot.

Questions generally omiiled.

I reside in Warren. Am not an officer of the prison now. Was
deputy warden from 1868 to 1871. Salary first $800, afterwards
$900. Did not occupy any buildings belonging to the State.
Did not discharge any of the duties of a commissary. Wendell
P. Rice discharged those duties. I had no copy of rules and
regulations furnished me when I had charge as deputy warden.
Never saw any there, either written or printed. I kept no record
of transactions. I had a blank report that I filled out and carried
to the office every morning.

Q. In that did you make a record of the punishment of the
prisoners ?

A. Every hour.

Q. Did you ever have any consultation with the physician about
the punishment while there ?

A. 1 have.

Q. State what it was.

A. 1 don’t recollect what it was. Several times we spoke
about the punishment. T had some views, and the physician had,
that those dungeons were not fit to put men in for any length of
time. In cold weather it was rather disagreeable ; there was no
furniture or straw in it. A man had his bucket and that was all.
Don’t recollect that I ever said anything to warden Rice as to the
danger of putting men in the dungeon.

Q. Do you know of any person being put in there during the
cold weather ?

A. Yes.

Q. Who?

A. Idon’t know now ; the report will show.

Q. Do you know the effect produced upon any persons that
were put in there for any length of time ?
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A. Well, some of them perhaps had their feet chilled a little.

Q. Did the physician forbid any one being put into the dungeon
during cold weather ?

A. No, sir; he did not forbid it ; he said it was better not to
put them in; he advised against it.

Q. Do you know of more than one person suffering from
chilled feet ? '

A. Yes; I think there were two persons—Charles Thompson
and Wm. McNorton. I don’t recollect now when that was. I
think there was another ; his name has slipped my memory now. -
I think ke is now living ; the other two are dead.

Q. Did youaid in taking the account of stock in the guard room ?

A. Tdidin 1869 and 1870. I had charge of the arms. I
handed them out and they appraised them. Some of them were
out of repair. They were not worthless. I could not state what
the value of them was. :

Mr. Knowlton interrogating.

Q. You say that some of the men had their feet chilled ; how
much ?
I could not tell.
Ycu put them in and tock them out?
Yes. :
Why did you let them stay till their feet were chilled ?
I did not suppose it was so cold.
Mr. Rice had nothing to do with it ?
No, sir.
You supposed that it was the discipline of the prison ?
Yes, sir.
. It was.your duty to instruct others employed there in their
duty ? ) A
A. It was the guard.
Q. When a person was put in the dungeon did you release
them when they promised to behave better?
A. T always did.
Q. So it was at their own election if they remained till their
feet were chilled ?
A. Certainly.
Q. Did you cull the attention of the attending physician to the
fact that their feet were chilled ?
A. Not till they came out.

propororor
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Q. After you called his attention to it did you put others in?
A. Tdid; we were obliged to.

Q. And it was the invariable rule to release them when they
) promised to do better ?

A. T always did.

Isaac Burker sworn and testified as follows:

Mr. Talbot interrogating.

I am not an officer of the prison now. I have been. 1 went
there in August, 1862, and staid till February, 1866, I believe.
Have been connected with the prison since, in capacity of over-
seer in the paint department. I think I commenced in May, 1871,
and continued till last of May, 1873. As overseer of paint shop
have been paid for salary quite a number of prices. I went there
first under Tinker. Since employed there, the last time, my
salary has been part of the time $800. I think two quarters it
was at the rate of $1000. I did not occupy a building owned by
the State. I was not there the whole year in 1871. I commenced
in May. My salary for 1872 was $800. Did not work all the
year. I always assisted in taking account of stock in my depart-
ment. I looked after the weighing and measuring of all the
articles connected with the department and made a schedule of
the paint. I did not fix the price only on the things that I knew
as per bill. We did some custom work in our department. I
kept an account of the custom work that was done for parties
outside.

Q. Was there anything done for parties inside ?

A. Only on the State’s account. Part of the time I kept as
full an account as I could. It was posted from the book and I
took no notice of it.

Q. What work do you mean?

A. I mean such carriages as are exchanged and those to be
repaired.

Q. Where an old carriage was exchanged for a new one you
did not keep any account of it ?

A. No, sir; part of them I did and part of them Idid not. I
kept it for some time for my own curiosity.

Q. Did you keep an account of repairs done on the warden’s
property ?

A. I believe they were on my book.
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Did you carry out a price for the work done for the warden ?
- Yes, sir.

Was that posted ?

I could not tell.
. In taking account of stock were there many paint mills for
grinding paint ?

A. Yes, there were four in use the last of my being there, and
three I think not in use. One was pretty nearly worn out. They
were rendered in the account of stock.

Q. Was there any account kept there of the number, value or
kind of the carriages built there ?

A. Ido not know of any such account being kept there.

Q. What was the method of your keeping books when you
was there?

A. T kept no account of the new work at all during the last
time I was there.

Q. If acertain carriage of a certain value was taken out and
conveyed away to be sold, was there any account taken of it by
which you could identify that carriage ?

A. Not to my knowledge. )

Q. Did the warden ever direct you to keep any books ?

A. No, sir.

Q. When anybody eame in to have a carriage varnished or
repaired you kept an account of it ?

A. Yes, sir. If he paid for it I took the money and gave him
a receipt. The money was charged to me on the books.

Q. Who put the price on the work of that kind in your depart-

ment ?

opopre

A, Tdid.
Q. Who had the selling of the carriages and sleighs from your
shop ?

A. T could not answer that question. Mr. Marden, Mr. Rice
and his son.

Q. Well, when Mr. Marden, Mr, Rice or any of his sons took
a carriage away you made no account of it ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did any fire occur in either carriage or paint shop when
you was there?

A. Yes.

Q. When was that?

A, In March, 1878, I think.



INVESTIGATION OF AFFAIRS. 75

Q. Do you know how that fire originated ?

A. I do not.

Q. Were any of the prisoners charged with setting the fire at
that time ?
I think they were.
Any of the prisoners punished after the fire on account of it ?
No, sir.
Do you know of Burn Hoswell being punished there ?
I do not.
Was you present at the fire last year ?
I was not.
Was you overseer or have anything to do in the building
that was burned in the late fire?

A. T was not overseer at the time. It was in my department
when I was there.

Q. Were any of the men in your department ever detailed to
do work elsewhere out of your department ?

A. Yes, occasionally.

Q. Do you know anything about what was in the basement of
the building that was destroyed last year?
I do not.
How long before that had you left the prison ?
I left in May, 1873, I think.
‘What was in there when you left ?
Lumber of various kinds.
What kind ?
Ash, oak, and the various kinds used in manufacturing
carriages,

Q. What was your manner of keeping account of tools. Did
you make a list of them ?
I did not myself.
Did the inspectors take an account of the tools every year?
Yes; sir.
Did you assist them ?
Yes, sir.
Did you make a list of the tools?
There was a catalouge of them with their names ?
Had you known of the guards boarding in the prison ?
Yes. _
Do you know who had charge of that department—provid-
for the guards within the prison?
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A. 1do not know.

Q. How long did they board there ?

A. T do not know.

Q. Do you know of anybody else keeping an account of the
carriages in that department?

A. I do not.

Interrogatories by Mr. Knowlion.

Q. When you assisted in taking account of stock, did you
make a true schedule ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you make a true schedule of all the things weighed
and measured ?

I tried to.

And also of the tools ?

Yes, sir.

Do you know what they were appraised at ?

I do not. :

Did you assist them ?

Was an account of the stock taken when Mr. Rice was
Sometimes they would ask my judgment. '

first appointed ?

A. Yes. .

Q. When they took an account of the stock then they asked
you for your judgment the same as since ?

A. Yes.

Mr. Shaw. Can you recollect any fact or circumstance that
took place while you were there that led you to suppose that the
warden appropriated any of the property to himself, or took any
of the proceeds of sales to himself?

PooroOror

A. No, sir.
Mr. Knowlton. Did any of the employees ?
A. No, sir.

Arvin A. NEWBERT sworn :

Mr. Talbot interrogating.
Q. Have you been an officer in the State Prison?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When and how long were you there ?
A. Well, I have served out two sentences. I commenced in
1864, the last time.
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Q. How long was you sentenced there 7

A. Seven years and seven months. I went there first to guard
on the wall day times, and stopped in the prison every other
night on duty till half-past nine.

Q. What salary did you get?

A. Four hundred dollars. I commenced on that in the spring
of 1866, if my memory serves me correctly.

Q. Did you have an increase of salary ?

A. Yes, I think in 1867, my salary was raised to $500 in April,
1867 ; it was increased again January, 1872, I was then taken
off the wall and put into the shop. I was in the paint shop.
What salary did you then have?
$550.

How long did you continue there ?

I closed there the third day of last April, 1873.

Did your salary continue the same till you left?

Yes.

Were you an overseer in the paint shop at this time ?
I was. I was an assistant in one room.

Did yoil take an account of stock?

I assisted Mr. Burket.

When?

In 1871 and 1872.

Do you know anything about what price was put on any of
the artlcles ?

A. 1do not, sir.

Q. Do you know of any account being kept of the work done
there, the new work ?

No, sir.

Did you keep an account of the custom work ?

I did, for a time.

Why not afterwards ?

The reason why was that the book got filled, and then Mr.
Burket kept it. I kept it till that book was full.

Q. Do you know of any of the employees in the prison receiv-
ing extra compensation for their services?

A. Ido not, sir.

Q. Did you occupy any of the buildings belonging to the
State ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Where is your residence now ?

erererororere
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A. Waldoboro’.
Q. You was not at the fire last fall ?
A. No, sir.

Mr. Knowlton interrogating.

Q. 8o far as you know of the affairs about your shop, were
they managed in a prudent way ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And did persons coming in for work pay a reasonable price
forit?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that was put on to the book ?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. So far as you saw during the time you was there did you
see any improper conduct towards the prisoners, by the warden
or any of the officers?

A. No, sir.

Q. And they were regularly and profitably employed, to the
best of your knowledge ?

A. Yes, so far as I know.

Howarp MorToN sworn :

Questions by Mr. Talbot.

Where do you reside ?
My residence is in Thomaston.

Have you been an officer in the State Prison ?
Yes, sir, T have been an officer for eleven years and three
months. I am not an officer there now. I was there up to
April, 1871.

Q. In what department were you employed ?

A. In the wheelwright shop. I was an overseer.

Q. Did you occupy any of the buildings belonging to the State ?

A. No, sir.

Q. What salary did you receive in 1871, when you was last
there ?

A. Nine hundred dollars.

Q. What did you receive the year before.

A. Eight hundred dollars.

Q. And what the year before that ?

A. It was eight hundred dollars for two or three before that.
I could not tell exactly how long.

o e
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Q. Do you have any knowledge of the manner in which the
account of stock in your department was taken ?

A. T used to take the account and the men with me used to
assist.

Q. What did the stock in your department consist of ?

A. All kinds of lumber.

Q. Was it surveyed in the presence of the inspector ?

A. Not often; I used to survey it and hand them the account.

Q. Did you keep distinctly a just account of the different kinds
of hard wood, ash, oak, &c.?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you keep an account of the quality ?

A. No, sir, I called them all one quality.

Q. You surveyed the whole amount and kept no account of
the quality ?

A. We did not designate it by quality at all.

Q. Do you know the qualities and kinds of lamber burned there
last fall ?

A. TIdo not, Ileftin 1871.

Q. What was your salary when you first went there ?

A. $500.

Q. Do you know anything about any accounts being kept of
the different kinds of carriages made there ?

A. TInever knew of any.

Q. You manufactured wheels ?

A Allkinds of carriage work ; as a general thing they bought
the light work all made.

Q. How long did it generally take you to prepare the different
kinds of lumber and survey it ?

A. As near as I can recollect a week or ten days; we gen-
erally did that while the inspectors were there, sometimes we
would get a little start of them.

Interrogatories by Mr. Knowllon.

Have you been a surveyor of lumber in Thomaston ?
Yes.

And have had a large experience in that business ?
Well, we don’t have a great deal to survey there.
Did you make a fair survey of that lumber ?

Yes, sir.

And the schedule was a true schedule?

propore
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A. Yes, I suppose so. I did it to the best of my ability.

Q. And at the time that Mr. Rice went there you was there
when an account of the property was taken ?

A. Yes, sir. ,

Q. Was the account taken in the same way prior to the time
it was turned over to Mr. Rice?

A. So far as I know, it was.

Syrvester B. Hamx sworn:

Interrogatories by Mr. Talbot.

I reside in Thoﬁlaston, near the prison.

Q. Had you any connection with the engine at the fire at the
prison?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What engine?

A. The hand engine at the prison.

Q. Did you work at that engine yourself?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. ITow soon was you there after the alarm was given?

A. About fifteen minutes.

Q. Did you go immediately to the building ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was the state of the fire in the burning building ?
A. The fire was in the west end of the building. It was not
much under way when I got there.

Q. Had it broken out through the building at all ?

A. 1 do not think it had.

Q. What was the first thing done to extinguish the fire ?

A. We got the engine ready and got water into it as quick as
we could. The engine that I worked was inside of the prison
walls. We got the water from the reservoir right north of the
building that was on fire. I was engaged at the engine.

Q. Were there any orders given by Mr. Rice about putting
out the fire ?

A. 1 did not hear any.

Q. Was he there at the first of it ?

A. 1 do not know.

Q. Did you have a conversation with the warden sovon after
the fire was discovered ?

A. Ido not know that I did.
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Q. Did you hear him inquire where the engine ‘‘State of
Maine’’ was?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did any of the officers make that inquiry ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Where was the steamer at that time ?

A. At the east end of the prison.
Q. What were they doing then with the steamer?
A. Ishould judge they were getting up steam ; they had not
ayed any on the fire.
Q. Was there any attempt to put the fire out with buckets ?
A. I could not say.
Q. Did you have any conversation with Mr. Rice about the
fire at any time ?

A. 1 do not think I did.

Q. Was there anything said about opening the middle door of
the building ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Could not the fire have been extinguished at that time
without the use of engines?

A. T do not think it could.

Q. How soon did the steamer begin to play at the east end of
the main building, after you got there ?
I could not say.
How long did you continue at the fire ?
I was there till along towards morning.
Were you working all the time ?
Not all the time.
Was any property taken out of the building ?
I did not see any,
Could not property have been taken out at the other end of
the bulldmg if the attempt had been made?

A. T could not say.

Q. Was there any attempt made to save any property in that
building after you got there ?

A. Not that I know of.

Q. Was you in a condition to see it if there had been?

A. It might have been taken out at the east end of the build-
ing without my seeing it; there was none taken out to my know-
ledge.
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Q. Were you anywhere about the fire, except at the engine,
where you was at work ?

A. I was about the yard after the building got pretty well
burned down. We went outside of the prison walls and placed
the engine on Wentworth street.

Where did you obtain water there ?

At this reservoir,

Was the steamer carried out there too ?
Yes.

FPOPO

Questions by Mr. Knowllon.

Did the fire spread pretty rapidly after you got there?
Yes. '
Was the wind blowing freshly ?
I could not say, now. I think the wind was north-west at
first, and then changed.

Q. Did you give any attention at all to what other persons did
round the easterly end of the building ?

A. No, sir, I did not.

Q. And what Mr. Rice might have done, or any other officer,
you do not know ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you think the building might have been saved after you
reached there ?

A. T am unable to say.

Thursday morning, at half-past eight, Mr. Talbot not having
arrivedy on motion of Mr. Morrow, A. S. Lermonp was called,
.sworn and testified as follows:

oL

Questions by Mr. Morrow.

Where do you reside ?

In Thomaston.

Are you connected with the State Prison ?

I am, as watchman—night watchman.

At what time do you go on duty ?

One week I go on at seven o’clock and another at eight

rorore

0 clock
Q. What time do you come off duty ?

" A. When I goon at seven I come off at five, and when I go
on at eight I come off at six.
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Was you on duty Dec. 4th, the night of the fire ?
I was.
What time did the fire break out?
I first discovered it between half-past ten and eleven.
Were you the first one who discovered the fire ?
So far as I know of I was.
What called your attention to it ?
From the light in the window.
Did you immediately give the alarm ?
I did, sir.
How long after that were the engines there ?
I do not know.
What did you do when you discovered the fire ?
I rung the bell. I had charge of the guard room and could
not leave it.

Q. State whether it was your duty to go through this room
after the convicts were locked up?

A. Yes, sir; I went through that evening a few minutes
before seven.

Q, How many and what kind of stoves were in this buiiding ?

A. There were two wood stoves and one coal stove in that
building.

Q. Did you take particular care to see that all the stoves were
closed and the fire taken care of that night ?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know that there was no possible way that the fire
caught from the stoves ?

A. There was no way that I saw.

Q. IIave you any means of knowing how the fire could have
caught ? .

A. No. I wasin the guard-room that night.

Q. Were there any carriages taken from the building that night ?

A. Ido not know. I was notin position to know. I had all
I could attend to in the guard-room.

Q. 1In the guard-room there is a window that looked out on to
the building that was burned, is there not ?

A. Yes; but the guard does not sit down at the window.

Q. You could look out?

A. Yes, but I had enough to do, so that I could not look after
the yard. I do not know that any carriages were removed from
the burning building.

POPOPOPOFOFOFO
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Q. Have you ever heard any one say whether anything was
taken from that building or not?

A. T1have never heard anything said as to whether the warden
took out anything or not.

Q. Is it true that everything in that building, tools and every-
thing else, was burned up in that building that night ?

A. Ttis so far as I know. It is my impression thateverything
was burned.

Q. From what you know of the fire, and what you saw there,
do you think if a proper course had been taken that carriages
might have been removed ?

A. Thave no way of knowing. I saw nothing that gave me
an impression that I could decide about it.

Q. Do not evade the question. I want you to answer whether
in your judgment, if proper care and prompt action had been taken
by those at the fire that night, some portion of the property in
that building might have been saved ?

A. I think at the first discovery of the fire there might, but I
was not in a position to know.

Q. Did you see Mr. Rice on the night of the fire ?

A. Idid.

Questions by Mr. Talbot.

Where was Mr. Rice when you saw him ?
In the guard room.
At the time the fire was burning ?
Yes.
Where else did you see him ?
Nowhere else.
Did you hear him give any orders-in relation to the fire?
I did not.
. What was the condition of the fire when you first dis-
covered it ?

A. I saw it shining into the windows.

Q. Where was it burning ?

A. Tt was in the southwest end of the building—or the west-
erly end toward the shoe shop.

Q. Oould you look out of the window and see what was going
on?

A. TIcould if T had observed, I had all I could attend to in the
guard room. When I first discovered it there was no one down

oroporore
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there that I saw. I gave the alarm. Mr, Keller went towards
the burning building first; he and Mr. Herbert came about
together., The warden and his wife came up next; it was between
half-past ten and eleven. I did not see the warden when he came.
I don’t know whether he had been in bed or not.

Q. Had any of the engines done anything before you saw Mr.
Rice?

A. They had not.

Q. Had any one gone to the building ?

A. They went out there. I did not look; I was busy.

Q. Do you know when Wendall Rice came?

A. Not until after his father.

Q. How long, after Mr. Rice came, was it before they com-
menced to play upon the fire ?

A. T do not know.

Q. Do you know of any one going into that building ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Were the inspectors there ?

A. T did not know the inspectors at that time, still there were
men there that I supposed to be the inspectors.

Q. How did you take care of the prisoners ?

A. T was not below, where the prisoners were. I had to stand
by the door, to let persons come in. Part of the time I attended
to that door, and part of the time the side door that went down
into the prison.

Q. How long have you been there on the night watch ?

A. Since November 4th or 5th of last year.

Q. Had you been an officer in the prison previous to that ?

A. No, sir.

Q. You do not know where the warden came from when the
alarm of fire was given ?

A. 1Ido not.

Q. When the warden came there did you hear him give orders
in relation to the fire ?

A. No, sir.

~ Questions by Mr. Knowlton.
Q. Was everything done, so far as you know, that could be
done to extinguish the fire and take care of the property ?
A. So far as I know, it was. ’

T A e
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Q. And was everything done which could be done to take care
of the prisoners?

A. 7Yes; I think it was.

Q. At any time during the fire, or after Mr. Rice came into
the guard-room, did he give you any directions or caution you
that none of the prisoners should escape ?

A. He did.

Q. What did Mrs. Rice do when she came in?

A. She rung the bell.

Q. What were you doing at the time? _

A. I was attending the door. I paid no attention to the fire,
only to glance out once in a while. ‘

Q. Was there quite a lot of lumber in the basement of the
building ?

I never was in there, only to look in.

Was Mr. Rice there soon after the bell rung ?

Very soon.

And also the guard?

Yes, sir.

Was everything done that could be done to extinguish the
fire, so far as you saw ?

A. It was.

Lroper

Mr. Morrow :

Q. Do you say that when you were opening the door on the
south side, and you glanced out, if there had been anything taken
out of the buﬂd!nm you wonld not have been hkelv to have seen it ?.

A. Not unless I was looking in particular for it. I was at-
tending to my business.

Henry A, WiLLis sworn:
In answer to interrogatories by Mr. Talbot.

I reside in Thomaston. I. am the Post Master there. I have
been an officer in the State Prison ; I went there in the year 1868,
if my memory serves me right. I went there as a night watch-
man. I received $400 a year, and afterwards $500. The inspec-
tors thought they could do without an extra night watchman, and
I was removed and put on to the wall and received $500 for the
rest of the time I was there.

Q. What do you know of the treatment in the lazy cells or the
dungeon ?

A. Iknow that they were put in there.
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Q. What do you know of their treatment in regard to food and
water ?

A. T only know what they said.

Q. What did you do in regard to it?

A. According to my instructions from the deputy warden I
should do nothing.

Q. Did you obey those instructions?

A. No, notalways; I gave the men water on several occasions.

Q. State whether or not you believe they needed water?

A. Yes; Ijudged from the quantity of water that they drank
that they did, and at another time by a story of the man.

Q. Who was that man?

A. I remember one very distinctly ; his name was McDougal ;
he was in the dungeon, or dog-hole, so called ; there was nothing
in it but his bucket. He was hammering on the door with his
bucket cover, and it disturbed the prisoners so they could not
sleep. He said if I would give him some water he would stop it.
I asked him first if he would keep still while I was on the watch
there, and he promised me faithfully that he would, and I gave
him some water. I turned out a dipper full once and he drank
that, and then some more in the dipper. According to my best
judgment he drank three half pints. I do not know how long he
had been in there.

Q. What did he say about not having water ?

A. Ido not remember as to that.

Q. Inregard to the other prisoners, did you furnish water to
others?

A. Well, there were several prisoners that I furnished it to,

Q. Were there any in the lazy cell?

A. There were always more or less there, and more or less
calling for water.

Q. Did you look at the tongue of any prisoner?

A. Yes, they have showed me their tongues.

Q. What was the condition of the man’s tongue that you
examined?

Mr. Knowlton : I object to that.

Mr. Talbot: Let the witness state what he saw himself. State
whether you did examine the man’s tongue, and in what condition
you found it.

A. TIlooked atit. Itlooked red. I do not know whether it
had a natural look or not. He wanted water and I gave him
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some, and he waunted more, and I told him I would not give him
any more.

Q. Did you make any remarks to the warden or deputy about
their treatment ? ‘

A, Some two years afterwards I called the attention of the
warden to it and told him what I had done, and he approved of
my course.

Q. Who was it that gave you the directions not to give the
water ? :

A. It was the deputy warden.

Q. Did you at the time say anything to the deputy warden
about this ?

No, sir, I did not dare to.

Why ?

He was a pretty big man and I was afraid of him.

Because you violated his orders ?

Yes.

. What was your opinion as to the mode of punishment all
the time you was there ?

A. It was pretty severe, I should judge. I do not know
whether they deserved it or not, that is not for me to judge.

Q. How long do you know of any person being kept in the
dungeon or lazy cell at one time ?

A. Ido not know only so far as I heard. I do not want to
swear to only what I know.

Q. Did you board at the prison ?

A. T did not, sir.

cropor

Questions by Mr. Knowlion.

Q. What year was this that you gave water to the prisoners ?
A. If I remember right it was in 1868 that I gave McDougal
the water.
Who was warden then ?
If I remember right it was Amos P. Wood.
Who was warden in 1869 7
Think Mr. Burton was deputy warden.
. Who was the second man you spoke of to whom you gave
water?
A. T cannot state his name ; there were always more or less in
the lazy cell. .

propo
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Q. Do you know the condition of his mouth and tongue before

he went there ?

No, sir.

Do you know how long he was in the dungeon?

He was not in the dungeon, he was in the lazy-cell.

Do you know how long he was in there ?

I could not say.

The deputy warden has the exclusive management of that
matter does he ?

A. Yes, I suppose so.

Q. And about two years-after you say you did mention it to
Mzr. Rice?

A. Yes; I was not watchman at the time I mentioned it; I
told him of both cases and what I had done, and he approved
of it.

Q. How long was that before you left the prison ?

A. Very near the time that [ left.

Q. Did you remain for some two years after the first instance
occurred ?

A. Yes.

Q. And during that time you never mentioned it to the
warden ?

A. No, sir.

Q. With whom have you conversed as to what you testify to
before this committee ?

A. Not any one. I have talked in relation to this matter, but
never have told any one what I would communicate before the
committee.

Q. To whom have you communicated during the last year
what you knew about the matter?

A. With several of the prison officers and others.

Q. To whom not connected with the prison have you com-
municated it ?

A. To Mr. Chase, Mr. Ruggles, Mr. Levenseller, Mr. Gerry,
and several others.

Q. Did Judge Ruggles call upon you in regard to it, or did
you go to his place?

A. TIdon’t know as I ever spoke to Judge Ruggles, it was
John Ruggles, Jr.

Q. Ishe a brother-in-law to Dr. Chase?

A. I suppose he is.

cropor
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Where did you have this conversation with Mr. Ruggles?
On the street.
Anywhere else ?
Yes, sir.
At Dr. Chase’s ?
No, sir.
In the post office ?
A. 1 don’t remember of having any such conversation with
him in the post office.

eporopreo

Mr. Talbot interrogating.

Q. You have stated two instances where you gave water to
prisoners, are those the only instances ?

A. No, sir; I have given it in several instances.

Q. Did you understand that it was a part of the punishment
not to allow them water ?

A. Well, I supposed that a man under punishment was on an
allowance of bread and water; that is the way I understood it,
that they had a certain amount of water and bread allowed them.
I had positive orders not to furnish them any water or bread.

Q. Have you had any conversation in the post office, either
with Dr. Chase, Mr. Ruggles, or Mr. Levenseller, in regard to
this matter ?

A. Well, it has been mentioned in there by a good many, by
Dr. Levenseller, Mr. Ruggles, Mr, Whitney, Mr. Stackpole, and
I don’t know how many.

Q. Tt has been discussed there pretty generally ?

A. Itis no such thing; I denyit. I see the direction you are
trying to give it, that this is a rendezvous for such discussion.
My business is in the post office, and if I make any talk of course
it is in the post office.

Mr. Talbot: Now we have only one or two witnesses more to
call, unless Mr. Rice is going to testify, and, as they are not here,
if Mr. Rice is going to testify he had better be examined now.

Mr. Knowlton: In reply to that I have to say that everything
that is to be put in against Mr. Rice ought to be put in before he
is called upon to answer.

Forenoon session adjourned.
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AFTERNOON SESSION.
Henry C. MarDEN sworn :
Mr. Talbot first interrogating.

Have you been employed at the State Prison ?

I have, sir.

When did you commence ?

Directly or indirectly, I commenced in 1862.

How much of the time since then have you been employed ?
I thionk I sold on commission some three years ?

You received a certain commission upon what you sold
from the prison for three years?

A. Yes, somewhere about that time.

Q. How has it been since?

A. From September, 1865, I went there on a salary of $600.
I think I went there in September, 1865, and worked till April,
1867, at a salary of $600. I think the next two years I had $700.

Q. That would bring up to 1869; what have you received
since then?

A. Well, T had $800 after that, I cannot say whether it is
two years or a year and a half.

Q. Are you speaking of the financial year of the prison, or
from the time you began?

A. My salary was raised, I think, the first of April, and when-
ever it was raised, it was raised in April. 1 had $800 till within
two years, up to April, 1872.

Q. What have you had since that time ?

A. Well, I have had nine hundred dollars, directly. Well, X
have had more than that at that time I gave the warden notice
that I should leave.

Q. When?

A. Previous to April, 18725 I think it was in February. I
told him that I had had an offer which I considered better than I
was doing, and I felt it my duty to leave. Ie partially discou-
raged me; he said perhaps I was going into an uncertainty and
had better let well enough alone. I teld him what I had been
offered, and that I could not stop unless I had more salary. We
talked more about it afterwards, and he said I was well situated
here aud had better stop. I told him I had a much better chance,
and I felt it my duty to leave, but if he would give me what I
asked I would stop. Within a day or two we talked more about

propropro
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it, and I told him what I would stay for. I told him if he would
give me $900 a year and my house rent from that time and give
me a carriage and harness I would stop another year with him.
He did not give me a decided answer then, but when he did give
me an answer he said there was considerable more business than
he could do, and he had consulted with the inspectors and had
concluded to give me what I asked.

Q. Had you, previous to that, occupied a tenement belonging
to the State ?

A. Not at that time.

Q. Have you, since that time, made an arrangement by which
you receive $900 and have a carriage and occupy a building be-
longing to the State ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was any sum fixed for the rent of that building ?

A. T considered it $100. I had lived in the house two years
previous to the warden’s buying it.

Q. And you have been in the employ ever since and have oc-
cupied that house?

A. Yes, from April, 1873, I have had $900 and my rent; the
carriage was bonus for one year.

Q. Now state your mode of transacting business ?

A. Well, I have taken carriages from the prison and sold them -
by the warden’s orders.

Q. When you take a carriage from the prison what account is
taken of it ?

A Tha wardan takng o
L. AnewW
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tofit. iic takes down on a
book that I have such and such carriages, whether buggy or
- wagon, and I have to make return for the same.

Q. Does he fix the price ?

A. He does.

Q. Then what?

A. Well, I sell them to the best of my ability. I swap and
trade, and exchange and sell to the best of my ability.

Q. Then, when a carriage is taken out of the prison, say it is
put down $200, are you in any way limited by anybody as to how
you shall trade ?

A. I render in, every time I come back, what I have done.

Q. When you trade and take an old carriage, who fixes the
value, who is to say what the old carriage is worth ?

A. The warden is to look after it and see if it is done right.
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Q. No; but suppose you are down to my place and make a
trade, who fixes the price ?

A. 1do at the time.

Q. And then when you go back to prison you render your ac-
count, so much for a second-hand carriage ?

A. Yes, and sometimes he would censure me for it if I did not
make a good trade.

Q. Censure is nothing, does he charge you with it?

A. Ofcourse.

Q. Who fixes the value of the old carriage, suppose you swap
with me?

A. He does.

Q. Have you sold, since you have been in office, all the car-
riages built there ?

A. No, sir, not wholly.

Q. Have you had any places where you consigned carriages
and left them to be sold ?

A. Perhaps I might have one where I wanted to get back, and
where I thought I had sale for it, and left it with parties until
they decided to take it.

Q. Do you know whether or not the warden does consign car-
riages to different parties in the State ?
~ A. Ido not know.

Q. Don’t you know that carriages are consigned to parties
and shipped to different parts of the State ?

I think they are.

Can you tell how many carriages you have sold ?

The warden has an account of it,—every one I have sold.
Do you know about how many you have sold ?

I could not tell.

What commission did you have when you sold on commis-

proreor

sion ?

A. Ten per cent. .

Q. Did not you ever figure up to see whether it was better to
sell on commission or on salary ?

A. No; times were different then.

Q. How much of the year, say take the last year, have you
been employed, in selling carriages?

A. Well, all of the time ; that is all the business I have had.

Q. Has it taken all your time ?

A. No, sir. I have done other business. When it was not
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suitable to go out with carriages, I have been round the prison
and done trucking for the prison.

Q. Have you been furnished with a horse at the expense of
the State, when you were sellmg carriages ?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell about how many carriages you sell ?

A. Old and new, from one hundred to one hundred and forty
to fifty a year.

Q. Where has been the circle of your operation; how far east
and west, north or south ?

A. My principal bounds are on the Penobscot river, say from
Bangor to Rockland ; I have sold carriages above Bangor.

Q. What was the average price taking them together, old and
new ? ,

A. T could hardly tell you the average. I could tell you the
average prices of the new work.

Q. Well, let us have that. How many new carriages have
you sold?

A. T1do not know as I can tell you anywhere very near.

Q. You say you sold them for from one hundred to one hun-
dred and fifty dollars; what proportion would be new ?

A.. When Isold I made a minute of what I got.

Q. -Yes, but how many carriages have yousold ? I want to
get at the average.

A. New carriages will average—a common wagon will aver-
age $125—piano box buggies will average $150 to $160—what
we call grocery wagons will average from $130 to $165.

Q. You are speaking of the prices last year?

A. Thatis what I am talking about.

Q. Now state as near as you can how many you sell of each
kind ?

A. Well, say one hundred new ones.

Q. Well, what would be the average of that one hundred new
carriages ?

A. I should say it would average $140, taking everything.

Q. That would be $14,000 for a year 7

A. For carriages ; yes.

Q. How about harnesses?

A. Well, T have not sold a great many harnesses, perhaps the
past year I have sold fifteen or twenty harnesses.
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Q. What is the average value of a harness such as you make
there?

A. From $28 to $60; what I have sold would average $44 1
should say.

Q. How many sleighs?

A. Our winters have been very uncertain in regard to sleighs.
I will say fifty sleighs.

Q. What would be the average price of them ?

A. From $60 to $90.

Q. Did you not have some sleighs that you sold for more than
$90 7

A. Yes; our untrimmed sleighs we sell from $60 to $65; our
trimmed sleighs according to the quality from $30 to $100.

Q. Have you distributed these within that district you spoke
of?

A. Yes; butI have sold some in other places.

Q. Did you have any commission on the sales ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Are you authorized to make any discount when you receive
cash?
No, sir; I have not been in the habit of doing so.
And you receive no commission whatever?
No, sir; nothing but my salary.

Por

Questions by Mr. Morrow.

Q. When you take a carriage out of the shop, and the warden
fixes the prices, say at $200, and you take it into the country and
exchange it, and bring back $140 and an old carriage—

A. Idon’t trade in that proportion.

Q. Well, I am only illustrating ; you say in some cases you
trade new carriages for old ? ‘

A. Tdo in some cases.

Q. Well, now suppose when you go back with $140 and the
old carriage, which you took for $60, and the warden says that
the old carriage is worth only $40, there is a difference of $20 and
how is that difference arranged ?

A. When he ever censures me for any such thing as that, I
always say to him, ‘“ Well, Mr. Rice, I can get out of it, and get
my price for the carriage.”

Q. And the ideais that you took the old carriage and disposed
of it in some other way, so as to make it turn the prison $60?
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A. Well, I always calculated to turn it so as to get the price
of the new carriage to the prison.

Questions by Mr. Talbot.

Q. When you get back is there any record kept to show to
whom you sold the carriage ?

A. Yes, sir. ,

Mr. Morrow. When you sell a carriage, do you give a bill and
receipt ?

A. 1 do, when it is required. ;

Q. Do they not generally ask you for a bill and to receipt it?

A. Sometimes they did. I always give it when they ask it.

Q. When you got back you reported to the warden the sales
of both carriages and harnesses?

A. Yes, sir; sometimes I have to trade half a dozen times (old
carriages) before I make up enough for the new carriage.

Witiiay WiLsoN, sworn :

I reside in Hallowell. I am one of the inspectors of the State
Prison, and have been since 1862, continuously all of the time.

Q. State whether you have from time to time established rules
and regulations for the direction of the officers and agents and
servants of the prison, in the discharge of their duties.?

A. We have, not in writing, but verbal.

Q. Have those verbal orders been approved by the Governor
and Council ?

A. Not formally. There were rules and regulations there
when I went there; they have never been written so far as the
officers are concerned ; they have been so far as the prisoners are
concerned.

Q. Have you established rules for the government, instruction
and discipline of the convicts, and for their clothing and subsist-
ence ; and for the custody, preservation and management of the
public property ?

A. We have verbally.

Q. Have you in writing in any way?

A. No, sir.

Q. What has been your custom, if not in accordance with the
requirements of the revised statutes, in establishing the compen-

sation of the officers whose compensation is not established by
-
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the revised statutes; how hdve you fixed the salaries of the
officers ?

A. We fixed them in writing and they were approved by the
Governor and Council.

Q. When was that?

A. The new law, when it authorized inspectors to fix the sala-
ries, we then made out a list of the salaries and had them approved
by the Governor and Council.

Q. When was that?

A. I don’t recollect the year, but # was soon after the new
law was passed. ‘

Q. Was not you a member of the legislature when the new
law was passed ?

A. 1 think I was.

Q. Did you not originate that law ?

A. No, sir,

Q. Did you, soon after that law took effect, establish the com-
pensation of the various officers of the prison, in writing ?

A. Tdid.

Q. Previous to their commencing upon the discharge of their
duties of the year?

A. T could not state definitely the time, but it was soon after
the law took effect.

" Q. You said that was approved by the Governor and Council ?

A. Yes.

Q. How often and at what times have those regulations been
changed in writing 7

A. Well, as to the dates, I could not say, but the records w111
show, T presume.

Q. Have you made out the salaries contemplated the year suc-
ceeding this law ?

A. 1did not consider that the law required that. I have not
done that.

Q. How have the salaries that have been raised, for subordi-
nate officers, been fixed ?

A. Those who received the same, it was not necessary to fix
them. I will state Mr. Chase, overseer in the shoe shop; his salary
was fixed at $800, and at that time we had an assistant in his
shop at $700. It was then costing $1500 to oversee that shor,
and Mr. Chase said if we would give him $1000 he would run the

7
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shop as well as it ever was run. And the result shows that it has
been run better than it ever was before. We agreed to give him
a thousand dollars.

Q. Did you fix the salary at a thousand dollars in writing and
have it approved by the Governor and Council ?

A. No, sir. It was a little matter and we did not consider it
necessary.

Q. How long is it since you have fixed in writing the salaries
to be paid to the subordinate officers of the prison,and had that
fixing approved by the Governor and Council previous to their
being paid ?

A. We have never had the salaries approved by the Governor
and Council since the first time-—the salaries of the subordinate
officers.

Q. By whom are these officers paid?

A. By the treasurer of the prison.

Q. On what vouchers has the treasurer paid them ?

A. He has taken receipts from them.

Q. Have these receipts been approved by the inspectors beé-
fore they have been paid?

A. No, sir, I did not suppose it was necessary when it was
established by law, and the treasurer paid them.

Q. Have the accounts of the warden, wherein he has paid out
and charged the amounts paid to the subordinate officers of the
prison, been approved by the inspectors?

A. Yes, every year. I cannot say that we have formally ap-
proved them at the time in writing, bnt we have approved them.

Q. Have you been in the habit of supervising the books of the
prison to ascertain what was paid to the subordinate officers?

A. Yes. When I am there I have looked over the books.
Sometimes they got money along during the month, and then the
warden charges so much paid for salaries.

Q. Then how could you know, so as to approve them ?

A. T say we have not always approved them formally,

Q. Please state the method which has been adopted in taking
an account of stock and property of the State, connected with the
State Prison, annually. Give it in detail. State what time of
year first ?

A. We usually commence after Thanksgiving. We take a
piece of board about so long and so wide (indicating), some of the
inspectors take a pencil with paper upon this, and we go and
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appraise each article. We go into the subsistence account, say,
We go to the storehouse and we find so many barrels of pork; we
enter it, if it is all the same quality, and appraise it at such a
price; then we go and take an account of the beef the same, and
everything pertaining to that department. If there is anything
during the time, that we are not certain about the value of, we
take the amount and have the value to be fixed afterwards. Then
if we go to the piggery we take the - number and each class of
swine and enter it, and so go through that department. We call
at the shoe department and take account of all the different classes
of boots and shoes. We go around and count the number of cases,
the overseer assists in getting them together—those that are not
in cases; and then the leather and everything in that department.
Sometimes we asked the overseer to go and get the different ar-
ticles together, and he makes a list of them sometimes, and we
ask him to count this and that in our presence, and so through-
out; that is the course pursued there. Then we come to the car-
riage department, and we take a number of some style of carriage
and we base our price upon these usually by the market price of
them, and what is the market price is what they are being sold for
every -day, and then we deduct what would be the natural ex-
pense of getting them to market. For instance: they have made
a great many Concord wagons there, and they have sold from
$120 to $125. I think we have never appraised them over $105;
and carriages, they have been selling right along at $250, we ap-
praised at $225, and then we go through and examine each car-
riage and appraise each one as we go along. The sleighs that
sold at $80, wholesale, at that time of the year when they are
usnally selling sleighs, we have never appraised over $75. They
sold for $80, and more than that; I paid the warden $90 for one
myself. Then we go into the blacksmith’s shop, and we have the
different kinds of iron and steel all weighed off.

Q. Are you giving details of what you do every year?

A. Yes, every year, always since I have béen there. On our
memorandum we go and enter the number of pounds of Norway
iron—seven-eighths and inch iron—the number of pounds of this.
The price varies. Then, in the evening, after getting this memo-
randum, we go into the warden’s office and refer to the original™
bills, and in order to satisfy ourselves whether he buys well or
not, 1 have sometimes taken the memorandum from my own
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We get the number of pounds and capacity of that, then we enter
the price. The lumber—sometimes one of the inspectors hasg
taken the minutes himself, while he had a surveyor and one of the
prisoners to overhaul it. Sometimes Mr. Moore (he was a practi-
cal surveyor) has taken it, and we have looked at each pile, and,
when it could be done, we have taken the measure of it, and had
the pile surveyed in our presence. I will add further that in tak-
ing the account of the steel and iron, from the biils, we have
never added anything for truckage.

Q. Nor made any discount ?

A. No, sir.

Mr. Knowlton. Were they net bills ?

A. 1 could not swear that they were net bills always; but so
far as I have known they have been net bills.

Mr. Talbot:

Q. About how long has it taken you, annually, to take account
of stock, as you huve detailed ?

A. From two to four weeks.

Q. How many of you?

A. Two of us. I will add further, with regard to the tools, we
have not always taken the account of each tool in detail. For
instance, here are some number of men in that carriage depart-
ment ; when we had takeu everything in detail, even to a pegging
awl, the next year perhaps we would look the tools all over and
compare them with the schedule of the previous year, and see if
all the things were there ; of course, if the tools wore out they
must get others, When they have remained about the same we
have entered them so much. We have done the same in the
blacksmith’s shop, and they have been entered, in our judgmept,
the same as the year before; and when we have not weighed
every tool in the blacksmith’s shop, it has not taken us so long.
When we go through in detail, it has taken us about four weeks,

Q. What time did you commence last December ?

A. 1 did not do*but little last year towards taking account of
stock ; 1 was there twice.

Q. Do you know what day they commenced taking account of
stock ?

I think it was Monday after Thanksgiving.
‘Was you there when they did commence ?
Yes. .

How long did you remain ?

oror
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A. One day. Mr. Prince and Dr. Billings took the account.
It was almost impossible for me to leave my place. I thought it
was not necessary to have more than two to do that. I thought
it was not necessary for me to be there, and it was less expense
to the State.

Q. Iow many times were you there after you was there the
first day ?

‘Was you there on the 4th of December ?
I think not.
On the day of the fire?
No, sir, I left the day before.
Do you know how far the account of stock had progressed
when you left the day before?

A. Only from the statement of Mr. Prince.

Q. Didn’t you have anything to do with taking account of
stock ?

A. In that department I did not.

Q. Did you begin to take account of stock the first day ?

A. Yes, the furniture in the warden’s house and office.

Q. How far along in taking account of stock had you got
when you left ?

A. 1 could not state, I had but little to do with it.

Q. Then you did not know at the time of the fire, how far the
account of stock had been taken?

A. Only as Ilearned it from others.

Q. Was you there more than two days this last December?

A. Icould not tell whether I was there two or three days. 1
was there only twice. The second time I was there after the fire.

Q. That was all you had to do last year?

A. Well, I looked over the books.

Q. Was you not there again when you signed the return of

PP

the 1 mspec tors ?

A. Only once.

Q. Ilow long after that was you there again ?

A. About a week.

Q. How long did you stay then ?

A. One or two days.

Q. Was you there again during the taking account of stock ?
A. No, sir.

Q. Did you sign the appraisal after it was made out?
A. No, sir.

Q.

A.

Q.

A.

Q.
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A. 1 was there when it was signed ; it was not signed till after-
wards.

Mr. Knowlton. Did you say that you had always been there
before last fall, when the account was taken?

A. Yes.

Mr. Talbot. Were they taking the account of stock when you
was there the second time?

A. Yes.

Q. How long did they continue to take account of stock?

A. They were pretty nearly through the second time I was
there. I was examining the books and looking over to see what
they had done.

Q. Did you do anythlng the second time you was there
towards taking account of stock ?

A. Tdid.

Q. In what department?

A. There were certain things that my attention was called to
in different departments; I looked over the accounts that they
had taken and some things that they had left.

Q. Did you go around yourself and take account of stock the
second time you was there, or merely look over the accounts they
had taken in your absence ?

A. 1 went there for both purposes, to look over their account
and to assist in the work.

Q. Where did you assist in the work the second time you was
there?

A. Tthink I was round in the different departments. 1 took
these books and went through and inquired about the things that
were taken. There were some things that were left that they
had not taken.

Mr. Knowlton. During the time that you have been one of the
inspectors, has the warden, to your knowledge, or any of his sub-
ordinate officers, had any of the property of the State except what
they have paid for?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know whether the warden has had his wood from
the State ?

A. Perhaps I could give the committee a better idea by telling
our course of dealing with the warden in that department. In the
first place I will state that my idea is that the way with any
officer of the State should be to give him his salary without a
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single perquisite. As far as the warden is concerned, all the per-
quisite he has had to the value of one cent, is the honse that he
has lived in and about half pasturing enough for his cow. Ile
has had his coal and wood, to a certain extent, from the prison,
and his meat and kerosene and molasses goes from the prison to
the warden’s house, and every cent, to our knowledge, has been
charged to him. During three years we find on the book $299
charged to him for fuel. The State keeps his cow, but in consid-
eration of that—or I will state that previous to this wardens have
been in the habit of charging for food furnished to sick prisoners—
food that has usually gone from the warden’s house. We told
Mr. Rice, that if he would furnish the food for the sick ones, that
in consideration of that we would allow kim to feed his cow from
the barn. He has had two colts there. We have charged him
two dollars per week, $104 each per year, for keeping the colts,
and in my judgment the State has made fifty cents a week on
each. The swill that is made goes to feed the hogs of the State,
and when the hogs are killed they feed the prisoners.

Q. Do you know whether the warden’s wife has received any
compensation ?

A. She has never received one cent since I have been there ;
I have felt that she ought to be paid.

Mr. Shaw. Are you sure about that?

A. I never knew that she had one cent.

Mr. Shaw. I asked because I heard yesterday that she had
$800.

A. With reference to the stable—when Mr. Rice first went
there, he found his own carriage and horse to do the business of .
the State. I think now he rides part of the time in his own car-
riage and part of the time in the State’s; in consideration of the
use of his horse to the State, it is kept at the expense of the State.
With regard to the furniture in the house, I will say that when he
went there—there is a very large parlor and a large chamber over
it—Mr. Rice came to the inspectors and said he aid not know
how long he should stay there, and he did not want to occupy,
himself, these two rooms; he did not think it would be prudent
for him to get carpets for these two rooms, but it was very conven-
ient when the Governor and Council and other officials from
abroad were there. It was very convenient and desirable to have
those two rooms furnished, and the inspectors instructed him to
furnish these two rooms at the expense of the State. The carpet



104 MAINE STATE PRISON.

in the entry is his own. I presume that those two rooms have
been opened very little during the year, except when the State
officials were there.

Q. What did that carpet cost? .

A. It was bought when carpets were cheaper; I would be
willing to pay for it, to-day, all that it cost.

Q. When the Governor and Council go there, by whom are
they entertained ?

A. By the warden at his own expense; and I want to say
another thing—the salary of the warden looks large; when he
first went there his salary did not near pay his expenses, as he
informed us; the business has increased ; the number of prisoners
is pretty large; he necessarily has a great amount of company.
If the Governor and Council go there he entertains them. If the
committee from the legislature go down there, he'entertains them
with a good turkey dinner. And the fathers, mothers and sisters,
of the prisoners go there; and I have known women whose hus-
bands were there, to go there with just money enough to get
there, and of course could not go to a hotel, and I have known
him to keep some of these wives there a week, and he has told me
that he gave them money to get home with. This is all at the
expense of the warden. At the insane hospital it is different.

-

Rurus Prince, sworn :

Interrogatories by Mr. Talbot.

Q. How long have you been an inspector of the State Prison ?

A, T think this is my sixth year. )

Q. Have you been present ever& year since you have been
inspector, at the taking account of stock ?

A. Yes.

Q  All the time ?

A. Yes; thatis, I did not arrive this year till a day after the
rest ; but before they commenced work.

Q. What day did you commence last year to take account of
stock ?

A. T got there Tuesday noon. It was the first Tuesday’ in
December. We commenced immediately. Mr. Wilson and Dr.
Billings were with me. I think Mr. Wilson returned home Wed-
nesday. I found him and Dr. Billings there when I got there.

Q. What course did you pursue ?
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A. I don’t know as I can state exactly. Our course has been
to go into the several shops and ask the overseers to make
schedules so far as they can, and also to ask the commissary to
make a schedule of stuff in his department, and then we usually
go into the house and the warden’s office.

Q. Do you know where you worked the sccond day of De-
cember?

A. We first went into the warden’s house, it is my impres-
sion. The first part of the appraisal was in the house and
warden’s office and in the guard room.

Q. How far had you progressed at the time the fire broke out ?

A. T could not say positively.

Q. Had you taken the account of the stock in the building
where the fire broke out?

A. We had not taken any account of that building.

Q. How did you come at the account which you made in that
building ? '

A. We always went to the overseers to have them take an
account and make a schedule. After the fire we went to the
overseers and asked them what they had done. The overseer
of the paint shop said he had a schedule in there, but it was in his
desk and was burned. The overseer in the wood-shop had his;
it was in his desk and it was saved, and that schedule we had.

Q. Who was that made up by ?

A. Mr. Vanstone, overseer. After the fire we sat down with
the overseer in the paint shop, and asked him to give us a schedule
from recollection.

Q. Who was that?

A. A Mr. Smith. I cannot give the christian name—and he

Q. One schedule in particular was saved from the fire ?

A. Yes, and we took that for a true schedule of the property.

Q. And as to the other; Mr. Smith told you that he had made
a schedule and that it was in his desk and burned?

A. Yes; and we took it from his recollection. We have on
our book the items in the several shops. 1 sat down and took the
book and took the items of the year before, and said to Mr. Smith,
¢ How much have you of this kind, if you recollect, give it as it
is, if not, estimate it ; but be sure and not estimate it too high.”
And in the lower shop Mr. Piper had not taken any in his part,
which was about the whole of the lower part of the shop. We
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took it from his recollection. He had his stuff all together. It
was different kinds of wood used in the manufacture of carriages.
There was some in the basement also.

Q. How lately before the fire did you yourself see what was
in the building ?

A. My impression is that it was some time in September

- Q" That time you was not there to tell what there was ?

A. Not to particularize,

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Robinson of Thomaston, had
any sleighs there?

A. I do not.

Q. Do you know what amount of property was there, that did
not belong to the State ?

A. No, sir.

Q. Did the overseer tell you what was there that did not
belong to the State ?

A. He was requested to give us what belonged to the State.
Everything that does not belong to the State has a tag on it.
The overseer knows what does not belong to the State.

Q. Did you, in getting at what was in the department where
no schedule was made, look at the book of the year before ?

A. We asked the overseer about the kinds that was there the
year before. The overseer knew nothing of the amounts. We
took the book of the year before and went right along with it.

Q. When was you appointed ?

A. T think I was appointed in March, 1868.

Q. Have you ever known any rules approved by the Governor
and Council, fixing the compensation of the officials there ?

A. No, sir.

Interrogatories by Mr. Morrow.

Q. Did I understand you that the overseer of the paint shop
had taken’'account of the stock in his shop ?

A. Yes, and it was in his desk.

Q. Were you in Thomaston at the time ?

A. Yes.

Q. You were in the habit of going through the shops with the
overseers and assisting them to take account of the things?

A. Yes.

Q. Had you notified all the overseers to make schedules before
that ?
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A. Yes; they make a schedule and arrange the stuff, and then
we take that schedule and go over it to see if it is all there.
Sometimes we did not take all the items, but looked them over in
parts.

Q. Was that lumber that lay in the prison yard all overhauled
and surveyed last fall 7 '

A. Yes; my impression is that one pile of spruce and hemlock
was not overhauled. The rest was all overhauled.

Interrogatories by Mr. Knowllon.

Q. Ilave you anywhere the amouuts of property which you
estimated in this manner which you speak of, that was destroyed
in the shop ?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you it with you 7—if you can give the amounts it is
just as well.

A. It was some sixteen or seventeen thousand.

Q. State whether, in ascertaining the value or the amount of
property which was destroyed by fire, whether where there were
doubts of the amount of property or the property being there,
which way did you give the doubts ?

A. We putit at the lowest figure. We instructed the over-
seers to be sure not to give it too high. There were some items
that we will make oath to.

Q. State whether you went through and in detail weighed and
surveyed in December last, all of the property ?

A. Yes.

Q. In that appraisal, state whether you fixed what you re-
garded a fair value of all the property ?

A. We did.

Q. In regard to the lumber which was in the yard—state
whether you took measures to ascertain how much lumber there
was, and the condition and quality of it ?

A. We do not overhaul all the lumber ourselves ; we had the
overseers and prisoners to overhaul it, and we would drop out
there occasionally, and after they had overhauled and piled it up
again, we took a rnle and measured to satisfy ourselves whether
they were correct.

Q. Did you satisfy yourselves ?

A. Yes; there was one small pile I was somewhat in doubt

about, and I made them overhaul it a second time.
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Q. State whether you classified and fixed a fair cash value on
that lumber ? '

A. That is what we intended to do.

Q. Was it so in regard the entire schedule which you made ?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you a schedule which you regard as a fair valuation
of all the property ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And signed?

A. Yes, sir. My impression is that Dr. Billings has not
signed it.

Q. Did he concur with you as to the appraisal ?

A. Te did.

Q. Did you see the lumber overhauled so as to see the condi-
tion of it ? ‘

A. Oh, some of it; the most of it was in good condition.

Q. At the recent appraisal, please state who overhauled it ?

A. The overseers and prisoners the same as when we did it.
They had surveyors on to survey it. I think the prisoners kept
the account. I think there were no overseers keeping the ac-
count.

Q. Who took the account at the shops this last time ?

A. Mr. Cushman.

Q. At the blacksmiths shop ?

A. Mr. Garcelon and Mr. Prescott got the stuff together aud
weighed and counted, and I think made the appraisal of the uncut
stock, that is, the iren not cut; and then Mr. Garcelon, Mr.
Chadbourne and Mr. Prescott figured on the amount. I think all
in the shop was appraised together.

Q. Who took the account of the work in the harness shop ?

A. Mr. Chadbourne and Mr. Wyman,

Q. And in the carriage shop ?

A. 1 think in the wood work, Mr. Chadbourne and Mr.
‘Wyman.

Q. Who took the property in the cells?

A. Mr. Prescott and Mr. Wyman.

Q. During the time that you have been one of the inspectors,
please state whether in your knowledge, Mr. Rice or any of the
subordinate officers or anybody, has had any property of the State
without paying for it ?

A. 1 donot know that they have.
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Q. Iave you paid Mr. Rice anything but his salary ?

A. We have not.

Q. State whether he has had his wood and supplies for his
family from the State ?

A. He has not.

Q. Has he had anything?

A. He has not, except that he has used the house and culti-
vated his garden.

Q. Does the law require that the warden shall reside in the
prison house ?

A. It does.

Q. Has your course been the same in appraising the property
every year, as it was the last time ?

A. It has.

Q. IHas the appraisal been fixed by the inspectors without
regard to the warden ?

A. Ithas; he has had nothing to do with the appraisal.

Q. Have you at any time examined, or been accustomed to ex-
amine into the manner in which the purchases were made by the
warden, to see whether they were carefully made or otherwise ?

A. Yes, somewhat.

Q. How has it been?

A. T think the purchases well made; some things I am not
very well acquainted with, and perhaps should not be so good a
judge as some one else.

Mr. Morrow interrogating.

Q. You spoke of when the account of lumber was taken by the
appraisers recently, that it was overhauled by the convicts and
surveyed by the overseers? .

A. No, it was surveyed by surveyors employed and obtained
there; I think both of them were citizens of Thomaston. The
surveyor made the survey, and gave the account to the prisoner,
and he put it down. The prisoner kept the account, but the sur-
vey was made by the surveyor.

Mr. Knowllon inlerrogating.
Q. I want to know if you saw the account taken of this lumber
recently by the gentlemen that were sent down there?
A. I was down occasionally.
Q. How was it taken?
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A. There were two prisioners to overhaul the pile, and a sur-
veyor to measure it. He measured some of it. The surveyor
gave the amount to a prisoner and he kept the account. I, think
he returned it to the surveyor, and the surveyor to the appraisers.

Q. Who were the surveyors ?

A. Mr. Cooper and Mr. Beverage.

Q. Do you know whether the surveyor added the account taken
of the lumber ?

A. 1 do not.

FRIDAY AFTERNOON.
W, WiLson recalled.
Mr. Talbot interrogating.

Q. How many overseers have there been in the prison, at any
one time, since you have been one of the inspectors—overseers
and assistants ?

A. In particular shops we have guards.

Q. I do not mean guards; how many overseers anfl assistants
at any one time ?

A. I could not state exactly, for the reason that sometimes we
have run the lower shop,—~sometimes it has been run and some-
times it has not. They put in a carpenter sometimes to oversee,
or a man they have around the prison. Mr. Maxcy has sometimes -
gone in. And, again, in the paint shop, a man with a smaller
salary has gone in as disciplinarian, to relieve the overseers.

Q. Imean in the capacity of overseer—all that have acted in
the capac1tv of overseer and agsistant at one time ?

A. Eleven, I think, including overseers and those who have
gone in to assist.

Q. How many overseers in the shoe shop ?

A. There have been two—overseer and assistant—but now
there is but one.

How many in the blacksmith’s shop ?
Two—overseer and disciplinarian.

How many in the paint shop ?

Two. :

How many in the carriage shop ?

Three.

In what other department, are there overseers ?
In the harness shop.

How many ?

prororore
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One—there is no assistant in the harness shop.

What others are there besides the ones you have named ?
There is one in the trimming shop.

. Have you ever had more than eleven overseers employed
there at one time?

I do not know that there has been—there might have been.
How many guards have you authorized by the regulations ?
Five regular guards on the wall.

How many do your regulations authorize ?

We allow him, if necessary for the safety of the prison, to
put on an extra guard; for instance, if he is suspecting an at-
tempt to escape, or of an attempt by people outside to get prison-
ers out, he puts on extra guards.

Q. What number have you fixed for regular guards ?

A. Tive on the walk and two night watch—that is the regular
number fixed, but when it is necessary to take some of these to
put in with the overseers, the number is increased, and we allow
him to do that.

What salary have you fixed for those guards?

Five hundred dollars.

When was that so fixed ?

When we fixed the salaries for all the officers in 1865.

Do you not know whether the guards board at the prison?
4 . A few of them boarded there a short time. I do not know
how long.

Q. Do you know whether the board was deducted from their
annual salary ?

A. Tt was or paid.

Q. When was the office of commissary established 7

A. Tcould not state definitely ; that grew up in this way: We
found the deputy warden could not attend to his duties as deputy
warden and commissary both, as we thought he should do, and a
Mr. Piper went in there when there was a large number of prison-
ers, and acted as commissary; I do not recollect when he was
appointed.

Q. Where do you get the idea that the duties of commissary
belong to the deputy warden? the Revised Statute says that the
clerk shall perform the duties of commissary.

A. Inthe first place, it was impossible for the clerk to attend
to the duties of clerk and act as commissary ; and then the deputy‘

warden was required to do that.

cror
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Q. Was it not because the clerk was so far advanced in years
that he could not do the duties? Iow long has he been in there ?

A. Forty years; he is an old man,

Q. You say Mr. Piper was first appomted commissary but did
not go by that name ?

A. Yes, I think he did not.

Q. When was he first appointed commissary under another
name?

A. T don’t recollect.

Q. When the office was changed to the name of commissary
who was appointed then ? -

A. 1 cannot state whether Mr. Piper or
Mr. Piper, but could not state definitely.

Q. Mr. Piper or who?

A. Wmn. G, Rice.

" Q. What salary did you and the inspectors fix when you found
it necessary to employ a man?

A. T have the impression that it was $600, but cannot state
definitely now.

Q- Do you know Wm. G. Rice’s age?

A. T do not, sir.

Q. Was he married at the tlme he was first appointed ?

A. No, sir.

Question to Mr. Warden Rice—How old is he, Mr. Rice?

Mr. Rice. Twenty-four or twenty-five, I think.

Q. I find in this report there is an employee of the prison, the
name turnkey. What is the business of that officer?

A. T could not state definitely.

Q. I find another one, that is gate-keeper. What are his duties?

A. His duty is to occupy the post by the gate, up on the wall,
as guard to open and shut the gate as persons pass in and out.

Q. Does that require a special officer ?

A. Yes. Istated that he acted as assistant guard, and kept
the gate. $300 was his salary, I think.

Q. What are the duties of the commissary ?

A. To take charge of all the clothing and provisions, and re-
ceive all the goods that come there and examine them, and examine
all the bills, and return the bills to the clerk; and to oversee the
provisions in dealing them out, (the cook is a prisoner); and it is
a part of his duty to collect the soiled clothing and see that it is
washed, and to see what needs repairing, and those that do need

I think it was

-
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repairing to send it to the proper room for repairs; and he has
charge of the hogs; and it is also his duty to examine the cells.

Q. Since the office has been established under the name of
commissary, has it been held by Mr. Rice’s son?

A. 1donot know.

Q. Did it require any more salary to pay the guards when they
. performed the duty of gate-keeper?

A. No, sir. When we received at the prison the Bowdoinham
Bank robbers, the Norway Bank robbers, and other bank robbers,
we felt it our duﬂy to put on an extra guard. We felt that it was
not prudent for the guard to go there to attend to that for fear of
a raid in his absence.

Q. Was it also necessary to have more gate-keepers on that
account ?

A. 1 did not say we got more gate-keepers. There never was
more than one on the gate at a time. . ,

Q. Was not you aware that there is a provision.in the statute
that the commissary duties should be done by the clerks and that
the salary is fixed by law ?

A. Yes, but it was impossible for any one to perform those
duties as they should be performed.

Q. Now, about the salary of the warden. Did you at the time
you fixed the salaries in 1865,fix the salary of the warden in
writing and have it approved by the Governor and Council.

A. Yes.

Q. How much was it ?

A. 81,800. We did not fix it by the year. The law is that
the inspectors may fix anew from time to time the salaries of the
officers at their discretion. ‘

Q. Do you know that that was the sum paid the warden for
that year?

A. 1 could not swear to it, for he received it from the State
Treasurer.

Q. Have you ever fixed the salary of the warden in writing
and had it approved by the Governor and Council since the first
time you fixed it ?

A. Yes, every time it was raised.

Q. Now tell us what it was for 18667

A. I cannot state.

8



114 MAINE STATE PRISON.

Q. When—at what time did you fix the salary whenever you
increased it? What time in the year?

A. I cannot state; we fixed the salary in writing and sent it
to the Governor and Council, for their approval, previous to his
receiving that increased amount. e never received any back or
extra pay for his services. His salary began from the time when
it was increased. We fixed the salary not for the week or month
but for the future. : ’
" Q. Did you fix the salary in January, 18727 That is, the
time he began to earn it ?
I cannot say whether it was in January or February.
You could not state what the salary was in 1866 ?
I have stated that I could not, several times.
When did you next increase it ?
I do not recollect.
Do you know what salary has been paid to the warden for
the last five or six years?

A. No, because I have not audited that account with the
treasurer.

Q. What was his salary in 18727

A.  $4000.

Q. What was it in 18717

A. 1 have said before that, previous to that, I cannot fix the
dates, that it was increased, The documents before the Governor
and Council T presume will show that.

Q. Do you know whether there was any trouble with the Gov-
ernor and Council about approving the salary that was fizxed one

AOUL Ay e = ATU vne
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year?!
I know nothing about it.
What was the salary of the physician for the past year ?
$150.
Has there been a regular physician ?
Yes; Dr. Chase’s salary was $150.
And the man who has been in since had the same sa.lary?
No, sir, $250, which was offered to Dr. Chase. Dr. Chase
recewed $150, paid to April 1st, I think it was, and having ap-
. plied for an increased salary to $600, we fixed it, I think, April
1st, to $250. He then served as physician some months, and was
- removed, and Dr. Walker was appointed.
Q. Was there not a time in which the ministers of Thomaston
filled the office of chaplain ?

bOEOPOP
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Yes. .
You have had no chaplain the last year?
No, sir.
How long since you have had the office of chaplain?
I do not know. The ‘regular chaplain was appointed to
gerve two years. Last spring the office was made vacant.
Q. Did youhave anything to do with fixing the salary of the
salesman ?
A. Tt was fixed by the warden and approved by the inspectors.

PoFoF

Warren W. Rice, Warden, sworn :

Mr. Talbot interrogaling.

1 am Warden of the State Prison. I took charge of the prison
June 20, 1863, and have been warden ever since.

Q. What business do you carry on there?

A. At present we manufacture carriages of various kinds and
harnesses, which is a portion of the carriage department, and boots
shoes.

Q. How long since you commenced to carry on the carriage
department ?

A. That was the principal business at the time I took charge.

Q. What other business was carried on at the time you took
charge ?

The boot and shoe business.

And the harness business ?

That was not carried on at that time.

When did that commence ?

In the spring of 1870.

What has been your method of carrying on the carriage
department there. State in relation to the purchase of the stock,
the employment of the men, the disposal of the property and all
matters pertaining to it ? '

A. Well, I have conducted the business operations there, have
had the general supervision and made all the purchases, or sub-
stantially all the purchases. I have been in the habit of making
purchases at cash prices, with few exceptions.

Q. When you make purchases, are the bills made for credit
and then discounted for cash?

A. Not always. I intend to get the goods for cash prices,
notwithstanding I am not certain that I shall pay in 30 days.
{My bills are made out against the prison.) I will say there are

proror
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some exceptions to that; occasionally a man makes a bill where I
have not given directions, and I purchase on the credit of the
Maine State Prison.

Q. State whether or not you have had the benefit of the dis-
count—when you pay within 30 days what has been your mode
of dealing ?

A Ido not get any deductions; 30 days is considered cash.
For some portion of the time, however, I have purchased iron of
parties on four months and secured the discount when it was
practicable.

Q. Where do you purchase your springs ?

A. Of Mr. Wentworth of Gardiner, almost wholly ; scarcely
any exception.

Q. Do you pay the same as other parties who do not purchase
so much ?

A. I think I get them for less—they consider the additional
security of the State worth a little something, and so I can get a
little longer time. In some instances I have found it practicable to
trade with one individual, but as a rule I find it better to divide the
trade.

Q. The article of wheels—where have got them ?

- A. For a considerable time I bought the light wheels only and
manufactured the large ones. I purchased of three different par-
ties, and I do not know but of more. For a considerable time I
purchased of Mr. B. I. Peabody, furnishing him carriages in
exchange, and other carriage goods.

Q. When you make exchange of carriages in that way, has
there been mutual deductions?

A. Tbuy at wholesale prices and sell at wholesale prices—this
man is buying to sell again.

Q. And you sell cheaper than if he were buying a carriage to
ride in ?

A. That might not be necessary; if I can sell him at the same
rate for him to sell again as I would you to ride in, that is his
lookout.

Q. Where have you bought your iron ?

A. Almost wholly, for the last year, in Portland. I buy of E.
Corey & Co., they are importers. I-am purchasing my mixed
leather principally of Mr. Thwing of New Sharon ; occasionally I
purchase of other parties who come to buy a carriage. My
sole leather, I formerly purchased of Tyler & Co., of Portland;
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during the last year I have purchased considerable of Lamb &
Tyler of Portland.

Q. The law says you shall not engage in trade, and still they
et you to trading? ’

A. 1T trade as the warden, and not as an individual.

Q. What has been your manner of disposing of property man-
ufactured there; take carriages for instance,—suppose a man
should come to buy a carriage and did not want to pay for it at
the time ? :

"A. If you should come and want a carriage, I should sell it to
you, and if I considered you responsible and wanted time, I would
take your note, or if you wanted a short time and you might not
want to give a note I would simply make a memorandum on the
short book, and when you paid I would have it entered.

Q. In your manner of keeping your accounts in the carriage
. department, have you any way of telling by the books where such
and such carriage has been disposed of?

A. Not fully; not all of them.

Q. That is, you make a carriage—say you did two years ago
make one worth $250, have you any way, by the books, of show-
ing where it went to ?

A. Not unless it had been entered in that way. If he had paid
cash, the book would not show it. I could by looking over the
blotter see that I had sold such carriages.

Could you tell to whom they were sold ?

Not in every case.

Your accounts do not show that?

No ; but I think they ought to.

Have you sent carriages to difference places for sale ?
Nothing of any amount; I sell them right out to the indi-

POPFORFE

vidual.

Q. You send a lot of carriages down to Mr. Sargent in Ma-
chias, every year ?

“A. Yes, sir; I have charged them to him.

Q. You make a minute of so ’many carriages to Mr. Sargent,.
Do you hold him responsible for those carriages unless he sells
them ?

A. Heis in law holden for them but I would say to Mr. Sar-
gent, that if he could not sell those carriages I would take them
back and credit him with them ; still T have never had occasion to
do it except in one instance—the front seat to a sleigh which cost
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$5. He has closed his account two or three times with carriages
on hand. )

Q. Have you not other places in the State where you send
carriages in the same way ?

A. Yes, to several men in the State. ,

Q. Has anything been allowed to these men; have you sent
them on the same condition that you send them to Mr. Sargent
for sale? ~

A. Some would be allowed more than he because they would
sell more; for instance, there is a man at Springfield—a man
named Gates—I send them to him whenever he orders them.

Q. You do not expect him to pay for them until he sells them ?

A. I charge them to him when I send them, but I might con-
sider it for the interest of the State to take them, should he want
to return them. There is but a trifle difference between the men,
but the more a man sells the more I give him. s

Q. What carriages do you sell yourself?

A. The books will show the amount sold. I have not been -
able—I have not had an opportunity to sell as much the last two
years as formerly, because the business has increased to such an
extent that it has taken me longer to close up matters. The busi-
ness is ten times as large as it used to be.

Q. When you send out carriages and exchange for old car-
riages, how do you fix the price of the old carfiage ?

A. I will illustrate: You write me and say you wanta particu-
lar kind of carriage and have one you want to dispose of I
answer back and say I will allow you what I can afford to, or I
will add the repairs on it and charge you the difference between
the carriages. Almost always I would fix a price and you would
pay the difference between the carriages. 1 would take old the car-
riage at what we could agree upon, and you would take the new
carriage precisely the same as though I owned the carriage. I
simply enter the balance of the carriage on my books and run that
old carriage right into the shop, and that is sold generally for
more than what it cost. I have found that usually there is more
profit in swapping than in selling.

Q. In the boot and shoe department do you do custom work ?

A. Yes, we do as much as people wish me to, and harness
work too. Sometimes we exchange boots and shoes. If you
were visiting the prison, and wanted to exchange your shoes, we
would excljange with you. We could put them on to the con-
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victs. The prices are kept in the shops and the prices are fixed
by the overseers. Sometimes it is necessary to direct it. The
overseers are inclined to get a good price for everythmg

Q. Are not you inclined in that way ?

A. Yes, all that it will bear. I am inclined to do Justlce be-
tween the State and the individual.

Q. Have you no way of showing what the labor of the convicts
amounts to per month or per year?

A. No, sir, it all goes into the lump. We do not employ other
help except the overseers. Some of the men are worth $4 a day—
those who are experts in the business. There is no account kept
of the labor of these men; it would be impossible to do'it. It
would be simply a matter of judgment like these appraisals. Our
Report Book shows the average number of men and where em-
ployed. The account is kept on a blank sheet and that is copied
on to a book, and that book will show the daily work of the con-
victs.

Q. Suppose you have an appropriation from the legislature of
ten thousand dollars, how is that accounted for ?

A. That is put into my hands and charged to me. I settle
with the inspectors first, and secondly with the Governor and
Council.

Q. How do you show that you have used up the $10,0007?

A. When I take the amount home with me I inform the clerk,
and the clerk charges me with $10,000. Now, when I pay a bill,
say to Corey & Co., or for any purpose whatever, I receive a
voucher for it and that is credited to me.

Q. Supposing you had an appropi‘iation for constructing
another building ?

A. 1 putit on the book and use it for that purpose. When
the Governor and Council thought proper to draw their warrant
for it, either a portion of it or the whole of it, (I would rarely
draw the whole of it) I would then take it home and it is charged
to me and I commence operations. I purchase bricks or anything
of that kind, and when any article that goes to make up a portion
of that building is paid for, it is charged to the building and repair
account. If I should buy a bill of goods from Corey & Co., for
instance, and there should be carriage material and iron, and glass
or nails in the same bill, the clerk would enter it on the book,
charging the carriage department with what belonged to that, and
the other departments with what belonged to them. The accounts
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are kept separate. I have kept an account of the labor of the
convicts nearly every year since I have been at the prison, and
have ascertained about what it was worth.

Q. Suppose you had a certain amount of granite-work, such as
in buiiding that east wing ?

A. That granite that was taken down from the old building
was never accounted for; it was a part of the old building, and it
continued to be a part of the new building.

Q. Do your books show the amount of the convict labor and
the prices paid for it? ' ’

A. Yes; we keep an account of the men that are employed
from the different departments, and then reckon it up and credit
the departments accordingly. We never really charge perhaps
more than half what it is worth to the State. )

Q. Tf you took out of the shoe shop a man, worth two dollars,
making shoes, and put him on to repairing or making wall, or
anything of that kind, you allowed for him two dollars ? '

A. TIdon’t know that such a case ever occurred. It is true
that we employed men on the building whose services were worth,
in the shop, two or three dollars a day, but did not charge that for
it. We did that for sanitary purposes. A man employed in the
shoe shop for a long time needs some outside work,—it is a relief
to him, and he is employed out there for sanitary purposes. He
is worth more in the shoe shop, after he gets back, because of his
improved condition.

Q. Do you think the accounts are kept in a proper way ?

A. Well,if I had sufficient help, T should prefer to have every-
thing entered ; the importance of it had never occurred to me so
much as it has recently ; but I don’t believe the State has ever
lost anything.

Q. Is there not a fault in the system of accounts kept ?

A. IfI was going to begin anew, with the knowledge and ex-
perience T now have, I should insist on being furnished with a
sufficient amount of help, so every identical article could be en-
tered and to whom delivered.

Q. Would you not recommend that this Committee make a
report to that effect ?

A. I should approve of it.

Q. How many years has the clerk been there ?

A. Forty-seven years. If his hearing was more accurate he

could perform the service better, but he never did perform the
]
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service as required by law, and no other clerk could. In regard
to the Commissary matters, the statute, as you are aware, says,
the Clerk and Commissary shall keep an account of all supplies
purchased, and articles sold, and assist in effecting sales ; attend
the meetings of the inspectors, and perform any other services,
&c., as though that was not enough for any two men. That
would do better when the business amounted to only $60,000, but
not when it is $90,000 a year. I found many things at the prison
that I desired to change when I went there ; for instance, the sub-
sistence department was not what it should be, and the inspectors
agreed with me, and I changed it, and improved the living very
much. And the clothing,—a man’s clothing was changed once in
six weeks ; that is, his shirts were washed once in six weeks.
Now, it occurred to me that I should want the clothing washed
once a week, and I insisted in doing it. They were not furnished
with under-clothing. It was, in fact, put on and worn out with-
out a change. And, in order to have a change, it must be
washed, and some one must see to that; the deputy could not do
it and be passing from shop to shop as the law requires that he
should, so I employed a man. Mr. Maxey performed the duties
of commissary, but it was before this change in the amount of
clothing and provisions, and when the number of men averaged
Jess than one hundred. When the number of men increased, and
it was necessary to use vastly more vigilance ; when at the close
of the war men had learned ways of escape, I appointed a man—
Mr. Piper—for assistant, and for the sake of distinction, I called
him a turnkey. That is why you see that there. So it ran along
while Mr. Piper remained. Then I appointed my eldest son in
the place, (he had previously been on guard) and I changed it
from turnkey to commissary, because he looks after all the busi-
ness of commissary. He looks after the provisions and clothing
generally and the cleanliness of the prison, and also assists in
guarding the prison.

Q. Did you ask any change in the law authorizing that ?

A. Noj; I did not think it was absolutely necessary, and don’t
think now that itis. I will also say that the commissary holds
himself in readiness to supply a vacancy. We are liable to be
away, and we cannot supply the officers’ places with green men,
We never put a green man in because there are so many peculiari-
ties in the duties, and we should lose men. It would demoralize
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the men, too. No oral instruction can qualify a man ; he must go
with another officer first. -

Mr. Knowlton interrogating.

Q. I want to know, if in cases where you have made purchases

of goods, and discounts have been made in the payment, whether
in all such cases you have given credit to the State for such dis-
‘counts?

A. TItis not exactly that ; my voucher shows precisely what I
have paid; for instance, I would send a man a check for his ac-
count less so much, and the clerk would. enter it, making him
debtor to me so much and the department credit so much.

Q. Have you ever received for your own benefit any compen-
sation for your trade ?

A. T never received a dollar.

Q. When you have accounts for the prison and receive inter-
est on the accounts, have you had, yourself, that interest, or
have you credited it to the State ?

A. I have always credited the State, and it so appears on the
books.

Q. Now, in regard to the help. Have you as much help in
the way of subordinate officers aud other help, so that men may
not be required to do more thay they reasonably skould do?

A. No, sir, I have not such help as I ought to have, but I will
say by the way of explanation that while it might be better to
have more help, I doubt whether it would be more profitable to
the State.

Q. Now in regard to the matter of compensation, are there
any persons employed about that prison who are paid more than
in your judgment they would be entitled to receive any where
else?

A. No, sir; I obtain their services at the lowest possible
-figure that I think is just and proper. I do not think there is a
man there that is over-paid. »

Q. Do any of the persons employed about that prison receive
anything from the State except what they receive for their
services ?

A. No, sir. I may say that some of the officers are not
charged with rent, that being a part of their compensation.

Q. Now state whether you receive, yourself, anything in any
way directly or indirectly as compensation, other than that pro-
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vided and fixed by the inspectors, except that stated by Mr.
Wilson, yesterday ?

A. TIdo not.

Q. And if you have anythmg belonging to the prlson do you
account for it at a fair value ? ?°

A. Tdo.

Q. Have any members of your family received any compensa-
tion other than what appears in your report ?

A. Notatall. One of my sons I have boarded gratis, in order
to hold his services—two of them, finally.

Q. The State allows you fuel ?

A. That is a fact I have learned since I have been here; I
have before paid for every dollar of it.

Q. About what has it amounted to?

A. T asked a clerk to take off my wood and coal account and
it amounted to $299, for what I have burned in my house for two
years. I also found in my drawer a voucher for aload of wood
that I purchased besides. I remember the circumstances distinct-
ly; the clerk purchased the wood while I was at dinner and paid
the money for it, and took a voucher for it, and I seeing the wood
there and knowing we were out, ordered the wood put around to
my wood-shed. It did not go to the State and hence I did not
use the voucher. . ‘

Interrogatories by Mr. Talbot.

Q. Do you say you have, never received anything but your
regular quarters’ salary?

A. 1 have made charges for what I have had to pay out for
travel for the State; I mean this: If I am away from home and

*my horse should be baited the State would pay for it; I.charge
for whatever I pay out.

Q. Supposing you come up here or go to Bangor to purchase
goods?

A. T always charge this expense to the State; that is credited
to me in my account. I carry it into my general account.

Q. Can you tell about what your expenses amount to, beyond
your salary ?

A. T transport most of the convicts to the prison, I can do it
cheaper than any one else. They come from Portland, Bangor,
and Lewiston, where I have business to transact, though I do not
often go to Lewiston. I can transact my business and take the
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convicts along with me. I charge my expenses, and the expense
of transporting the convicts. Before I went there they were in
' the habit of contracting with some individual to deliver the con-
victs at the prison, but there is an objection that. It does not
cost the State near as much as it did before, and there is another
objection—the convict’s behavior after he comes to the prison de-
pends very much upon who brings him. It is desirable that he
should not come under misrepresentation ; and be excited by ideas
that are never to be realized, and this affords me an opportunitiy
to give them instructions and advice that is serviceable, and I
think that all the deputies admit that the convicts are better be-
haved when I take them there, than when they are taken by some
person who has less experience.

Interrogatories by Mr. Morrow,

Q. When you take a convict out of a shop that is worth in the
shop $2 a day, and put him out of doors doing repairing, or at
work on the building, and you charge the State, say $1.50 a day,
what amount do you credit the shop ?

A. Whatever I charge the State.

Q. You speak of the labor there. You think it would be bet-
ter to have some assistance. Have you ever applied to the
Inspectors or Governor and Council for assistance ?

A. I never have.

Mr. Talbot interrogating.

Q. Do yourecolleet of settling your account wi
and Council, December, 18707

A. 1 do not, especially. :

Q. It appears after the settlement of the account that a war-
rant was drawn in your favor for $300, to be paid out of the
contingent fund of the Governor and Council ; that was paid the
6th of January, 1871, and we have not been able to find any
voucher ?

A. T do not remember the circumstance now ; it has entirely
escaped me.

Q. Was it not for your salary that had been raised to $2,8007

A. That I cannot say.

Q. Had you any trouble or difficulty in settling with the Gov.
ernor and Council, in their allowing you that amount ?

A. No, I never had any trouble in settling. If I received the
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$300 at that time, I have no question that it was because they
established the salary at $2,800. If they drew the warrant I sup-
pose they will be able to tell. Itis my judgment that it was for
increased salary.

Mr. Morrow interrogating.

When you sell a man a new carriage, when he pays for it
do you give him a bill and a receipt showing that it is paid for?
Sometimes I do and sometimes I do not.
Would your books show to whom it was sold ?
It would not in all instances.
Have you ever sold John Lynde of Bangor, a carriage ?
I bave.
Do your books show it ?
Yes.
Have you ever made a carriage for Mr, Bodwell ?
Yes.
And you say your books will show that transaction ?

A. Yes. ’

Mr. Knowlton. Did they pay you the full value of the car-
riages ?

A. Yes; they paid in cash in both instances, and the full
value. I have never sold a carriage to any individual any less
than a fair cash value on account of favoritism.

e

. . 0

oroPorOPOPN

Nore.—The papers referred to in the report of the Stenographer as put in as evidence,

to wit

Paper marked €A” referred to pages 40 and 46,

Paper marked  B” referred to page 41,

Paper marked ¢ C” referred to page 45,
were not among the papers accompanying the Report of the Committee submitted to
the Legislature, neither did they accompany the report of the Stenographer, and not
having come into the possession of the Secretary of the Senate, are unavoidably
omitted from this report.

SAMUEL W. LANE,
Secretary of the Senate.
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